EDITED BY JANE MARIE SOUZA AND TARA A. ROSE

# EXEMPLARS OF ASSESSMENT IN HIGHER EDUCATION, VOLUME TWO

Strategies for a Changing Higher Education Environment





"In my roles at my institution and AGLS, I live and breathe general education and its continuous improvement... so I naturally skipped to the gened chapters first. However, I was quickly drawn to sections that can inform our broader work on timely and pressing issues of DEI, the pandemic and online learning, and career readiness. Having real case studies with successes and lessons learned (particularly from the crazy last few years) with nuts-and-bolts tools from a variety of institutional types means no one has to start their assessment efforts from scratch. I will advertise this volume to all our members!"

**Stephen Biscotte, PhD**, Assistant Provost for Undergraduate Education and Instructor, *School of Education at Virginia Tech*; President, *Association for General and Liberal Studies* 

"Employers today are constantly reporting that employees often don't have the requisite communication, critical thinking, information literacy, quantitative reasoning, and social and cultural awareness skills needed in today's global economic workforce. This book points out not only the fact that these skills are taught across the curriculum in postsecondary educational institutions but that their attainment is measured and revisions to the curriculum are made as a result of the data. A must read for any higher education professional who has a genuine interest in ensuring the best prepared graduates for today's world and beyond."

Belle Wheelan, PhD, President, Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges

"College assessment practices need to be designed and implemented considering the changing environments brought about by the pandemic, calls for social justice, and heightened attacks on the value of higher education. The volume provides diverse examples of innovative ways institutions are successfully using assessment data to prepare students for the 21st century explicitly taking into account these structural contexts. Highlighting both the quantitatively and qualitatively rich understandings of success, each chapter details how assessment data can be used to work toward more equitable student experiences and outcomes and demonstrate how students are mastering career competencies within degree programs."

Mary Gatta, PhD, Director of Research and Public Policy, National Association of Colleges and Employers (NACE) "This volume of *Exemplars of Assessment* offers readers plentiful examples of assessment's significance and impact in a variety of contexts. Each individual chapter provides rich information to enhance knowledge and inform professional practice. Collectively, the chapters provide a mosaic of compelling, contemporary issues facing the higher education sector. Faculty members, student affairs educators, assessment professionals, administrators, policy-makers, researchers—indeed, anyone with a stake in improving student learning—will find this book a beneficial addition to their professional library."

Stephen P. Hundley, Chair, Assessment Institute in Indianapolis and Executive Editor, Assessment Update

"The diversity of institutions and the varied perspectives on assessment practices in the second volume of *Exemplars of Assessment in Higher Education* make this book a must read for institutional leaders and educators asking how to center DEI within assessment strategies. The honest and candid reflections of the authors are inspiring and approachable for professionals at any stage in their careers."

Tia Brown McNair, Vice President for Diversity, Equity, and Student Success and Executive Director for TRHT Campus Centers, American Association of Colleges & Universities (AAC&U)

"Loss of public trust has rendered higher education vulnerable and dubious as academicians lobby and plead for its worth and value to society. As student achievement metrics like graduation and retention fall prey to grade inflation, Souza and Rose offer practical solutions like learner records and student ownership of articulated competencies to address public demand for practical, real-world education while maintaining the Academy's commitment to liberal arts education, habits of mind, and civic engagement."

Josephine Welsh, PhD, Associate Provost of Academic Affairs, Delta State University

"Our assessment professional community has a wealth of experiences and insights to share that can offer support in the process of assessment for learning. When facing new challenges in higher education assessment, I've learned some of my most valuable lessons from colleagues who had gone through something similar. The second volume of *Exemplars of Assessment in Higher Education* offers the reader a worthwhile opportunity like this, to access and learn from our colleagues' experiences of working through

assessment challenges at a variety of institutions during the COVID-19 pandemic. It's sure to be a helpful resource to assessment professionals- we can learn so much from each other!"

Gina B. Polychronopoulos, PhD, Associate Director of Curricular Assessment, George Mason University; Associate Editor, Research & Practice in Assessment



# EXEMPLARS OF ASSESSMENT IN HIGHER EDUCATION, VOLUME TWO

In this second volume of the successful *Exemplars of Assessment in Higher Education*, editors Souza and Rose share examples of assessment practice from over fifteen distinct and diverse Higher Education Institutions, including international contributions. Building upon the work of the first volume, the case studies in this book reflect the changes in assessment and higher education in the post-Covid education environment.

The institutions that appear in this book were chosen for having an effective assessment approach in one or more of the following areas: career readiness; distance education; diversity, equity, and inclusion; or general education. Each part of the book discusses one of these four areas, with chapters that feature real-life examples from the educators who teach at the college or university. Featuring a Foreword by AAC&U President Lynn Pasquerella, the work highlighted in this book is also aligned with AAC&U's Valid Assessment of Learning in Undergraduate Education (VALUE) initiative to help educators make the best decisions about measuring student learning.

This book is ideal for university educators and assessment practitioners looking to diversify and enhance their assessment practices.

**Jane Marie Souza** is Associate Vice Provost for Accreditation and Accreditation Liaison Officer at the University of Rochester, USA.

**Tara A. Rose** is Director of Assessment and Interim Associate Vice Provost at Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, USA.



# EXEMPLARS OF ASSESSMENT IN HIGHER EDUCATION, VOLUME TWO

Strategies for a Changing Higher Education Environment

Edited by Jane Marie Souza and Tara A. Rose





Designed cover image: © Getty Images

First published 2024

by Routledge

605 Third Avenue, New York, NY 10158

and by Routledge

4 Park Square, Milton Park, Abingdon, Oxon, OX14 4RN

Routledge is an imprint of the Taylor & Francis Group, an informa business

© 2024 AAC&U and Taylor & Francis

A Co-Publication between Taylor & Francis and The American Association of Colleges and Universities (AAC&U)

The right of Jane Marie Souza and Tara A. Rose to be identified as the authors of the editorial material, and of the authors for their individual chapters, has been asserted in accordance with sections 77 and 78 of the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reprinted or reproduced or utilised in any form or by any electronic, mechanical, or other means, now known or hereafter invented, including photocopying and recording, or in any information storage or retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publishers.

*Trademark notice*: Product or corporate names may be trademarks or registered trademarks and are used only for identification and explanation without intent to infringe.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Names: Souza, Jane M. (Jane Marie) editor. | Rose, Tara, editor.

Title: Exemplars of assessment in higher education, volume two: strategies for a changing higher education environment / edited by Jane Marie Souza and Tara A. Rose; [foreword by Lynn Pasquerella].

Description: New York: Routledge, 2024. | Volume 1 published in 2021. |

Includes bibliographical references and index.

Identifiers: LCCN 2023025667 (print) | LCCN 2023025668 (ebook) | ISBN 9781642675481 (hbk) | ISBN 9781642675498 (pbk) | ISBN 9781003444695 (ebk)

Subjects: LCSH: Universities and colleges—United States—Examinations. | Universities and colleges—Australia—Examinations. | Educational tests and measurements—United States. | Educational tests and measurements—Australia. | Educational evaluation—United States. | Educational evaluation—Australia. | Classification: LCC LB2366 .E943 2024 (print) | LCC LB2366 (ebook) | DDC

378.1/662—dc23/eng/20230824

LC record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2023025667 LC ebook record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2023025668

ISBN: 978-1-642-67548-1 (hbk) ISBN: 978-1-642-67549-8 (pbk) ISBN: 978-1-003-44469-5 (ebk)

DOI: 10.4324/9781003444695

Typeset in Galliard by codeMantra



## **CONTENTS**

Lis	t of Figures	xiii
Lis	t of Tables	xv
Ab	out the Editors	xvii
Lis	t of Contributors	xix
For	reword	xxxiii
Pre	eface	XXXI
	roduction ra A. Rose	1
	RT ONE versity, Equity, and Inclusion	9
1	Good Practice: Storytelling as Assessment (R)Evolution Glenn Allen Phillips, Kyle Shanks, Britt Spears-Rhymes, Daphne Bernard and Anthony K. Wutoh	11
2	Aligning Strategic Planning, Accreditation, and Institutional Assessment for a Future-Ready University Sharlene Sayegh and Jody Cormack	24
3	Supporting Diverse Faculty to Make Assessment Meaningful through Peer-Led Coaching Rosalie Bojos, Elizabeth Switaj and Cheryl Vila	37

4	Assessing Equity with Traditional and Novel Metrics in Times of Change  Terrence Willett	51
PART TWO Distance Education		
5	Distance Learning in the Time of COVID: Increasing LMS Usage through Focused Faculty Development Kristine Pruett, Meagan Mielczarek and Brian Bogert	83
6	Trauma-Informed Course Design: Using Neurobiological Frameworks to Understand the Impacts of Trauma and Remove Barriers to Learning Patrick Dempsey and Christine Mahady	95
7	Standardizing the Process: A Unified Framework for Assessing Student Learning in Distance Education <i>Khalilah V. Burton and John T. Hope</i>	109
8	Assessing an Online Nuclear Engineering Technology Program Jessica Lamendola	123
9	Embedded Assessment to Measure Student Achievement in the Online Modality Joanne Weiss	135
PART THREE Career Readiness 15		
10	Assessment Practices that Support Career Transitions for Doctoral Students  Janet Simon Schreck and Chadia N. Abras	153
11	Using Portfolio-Based Assessments to Demonstrate Academic Competency, Encourage Professional Growth, and Inform Curricular Innovation Judith L. Millesen and Holly Raffle	170

	Contents	хi
12 Assessment That Impacts Career Success Sydney Yau	18	83
13 A Holistic Approach to Career Readiness Assessment in a Guided Pathways Framework Maura Devlin, Heather Gould, Gretchen Heaton and Claire Jenson		95
PART FOUR General Education	20	09
14 Building a Signature General Education Program with Alignment and Assessment among Its Founding Principals  Claudio Piani, Elizabeth Kinne, Michael Stöpel,  Linda Martz and Sneharika Roy		11
15 General Education Assessment: Course-Based to Comprehensive Assessment of Student Learning Beth Wuest and Lon Olson	22	28
16 Collaborative General-Education Assessment among Mission-focused Institutions  Aaron D. Profitt and Rebecca Pohl	24	44
17 Remodeling Academic Advising into a Holistic Case Management Model and Assessing the Effectiveness of the Model and the Impact on Student Success Penny A. Kelly, Kimberly B. McLain and Gina Chase	2	56
Index	2	271



## **FIGURES**

2.1	Using the symbolic frame for showing alignment of outcomes	32
2.2	Evidence, data, and institutional outcomes	33
3.1	SLO assessment metadata report sample page—	
	participation rates	46
3.2	SLO assessment metadata report—supervisors' feedback	
	using high-quality assessment rubrics	47
4.1	College composition success rates, success counts,	
	completion rates, and enrollment counts over time	62
4.2	Statistics (math) success rates, success counts, completion	
	rates, and enrollment counts over time	63
4.3	College composition enrollments and success rates and	
	counts before and after AB 705 initial implementation	
	by ethnicity	66
4.4	Statistics (math) enrollments and success rates and counts	
	before and after AB 705 initial implementation by ethnicity	68
4.5	Grade distributions before (2019sp) and after (2020sp)	
	Covid-19 shelter-in-place order	72
4.6	Student drops by zip code after the CZU fire in the	
	northwest portion of the district	74
4.7	Example of success rate (c of better) section-level	
	variability both within and among disciplines using boxplots	75
5.1	Fall course shell utilization rates	92
9.1	University strategic blueprint	136
9.2	University framework for student learning	139

#### **xiv** Figures

9.3	Signature assessment rubric for mph 540	143
10.1	The comprehensive learner record learning experiences	157
12.1	SCPM assessment process	186
14.1	Alignment between course LOs and program LOs	221
14.2	2021 selected student evaluations of Integrative Inquiry	
	(II) LOs	224
14.3	FirstBridge survey results	225
14.4	Assessment of assessment: number of programs by	
	achievement level	226

## **TABLES**

I.1	Contributing accreditors	3
I.2	Carnegie classification and chapter alignment	7
2.1	Institutional outcome matrix	31
2.2	First round assessment worksheet	35
3.1	High-quality assessment rubric—assessment plan	40
3.2	High-quality assessment rubric—assessment data, analysis,	
	and action	41
4.1	English and math comparison of marginal effects of five	
	learning communities	54
4.2	Success rate for College Composition and statistics (math)	
	with disproportionate impact (DI)	69
4.3	Success rates for statistics (math) with intersectional	
	disproportionate impact (DI)	70
5.1	Primary strategic plan metrics and targets related to	
	faculty development	90
6.1	Example vignettes	97
6.2	Committed to care framework	101
6.3	Commitment to engage	102
6.4	Commitment to achieve	103
6.5	Commitment to perform	103
6.6	Commitment to thrive	104
7.1	PLO 1 for the BSBA program	115
7.2	Use of results and seeking improvement in the BSBA	118
8.1	Excerpt from the nuclear engineering technology	
	program's curriculum map	127

#### xvi Tables

8.2	Excerpt from the NET outcomes assessment plan	
	assessment matrix	131
8.3	Excerpt from the nuclear engineering technology	
	program's four-column report	133
9.1	University mission-based outcomes	140
9.2	Assessment of student learning schedule	144
9.3	Step 3: Implementing improvements in the Doctor of	
	Nursing Practice	147
9.4	UMBO aggregate data by achievement level for the	
	2021–2022 period	148
10.1	The Teaching Academy phases	160
10.2	Options curriculum	162
10.3	Empower your pitch competition	165
10.4	Empower your pitch competition assessment rubric	167
12.1	CPME domains and learning competencies	189
12.2	Formative assessment tools	190
13.1	New ILO categories and definitions	201
14.1	Liberal arts core capabilities	212
14.2	GLACC component #4: Investigation, interpretation, and	
	writing alignment table	220
14.3	Capstone rubric	222
15.1	Texas general education components and competencies matrix	231
16.1	Institutional profiles	245
16.2	Selected general-education development items	248
17.1	Sample of advisors statements	266

## **ABOUT THE EDITORS**

Jane Marie Souza, PhD, serves as the Associate Vice Provost for Accreditation and Accreditation Liaison Officer at the University of Rochester. She served as the 2019-2020 president of the Association for the Assessment of Learning in Higher Education and previously served as editor for the organization's publication, Intersection. Dr. Souza has served on accreditation teams for the New England Commission on Higher Education, Middle States Commission on Higher Education, Accreditation Council for Pharmacy Education, and Council on Podiatric Medical Education, where she was a member of the Council 2016–2019. Dr. Souza has been involved with assessment in education since the 1990s when her class was designated a "Lighthouse" site in the state of Massachusetts for her work with curricular alignment and assessment. While working with pharmacy education 2011–2015, she was elected chair of the Assessment Special Interest Group of the American Association of Colleges of Pharmacy and recognized with an Excellence in Assessment award. Dr. Souza served as an assessment consultant for institutions across the country, offering workshops on the use of technology in the classroom, mapping curricular outcomes, and meeting accreditation standards through effective assessment. She has presented at conferences including the Association for Institutional Research, Middle States Commission on Higher Education, Association for the Assessment of Learning in Higher Education, Drexel Assessment Conference (kevnote), Assessment Institute in Indianapolis (section keynote), Texas A&M, and Association for Medical Education in Europe. Dr. Souza holds a PhD in Higher Education Administration from the University of Nebraska, an

MEd in Curriculum Development from Curry College, and a BA in English from the University of Massachusetts.

Tara A. Rose, PhD, serves as the Director of Assessment and Interim Associate Vice Provost at Louisiana State University in Baton Rouge. She leads academic quality efforts including strategies for direct, performancebased assessment of student learning at the course, program, and university levels. Dr. Rose has over 20 years of experience in assessment and outcomes analysis. She began her career with a nonprofit organization and has also spent time at the state level working for the Kentucky Legislative Research Commission and the Kentucky Council on Postsecondary Education. She previously served as the Director of Assessment at the University of Kentucky and has also taught at Eastern Kentucky University in the Department of Homeland Security. Dr. Rose was a founding member of the Association for the Assessment of Learning in Higher Education (AALHE), and has participated as a Board Member since 2014, previously holding the position of President in AY 2015–2016. In 2019, Dr. Rose was appointed as Senior Fellow with the American Association of Colleges and Universities (AAC&U). She was instrumental in the creation of the Multi-State Collaborative for Learning Outcomes Assessment, a thirteen-state collaborative that used the VALUE rubrics as a shared standard to establish direct evidence of the quality of student learning to strengthen state and national policy discussions. In 2020, she spearheaded the College to Career Success project where she co-led focus groups with employers, specifically line managers supervising recent graduates, to determine consistent understanding of the AAC&U Essential Learning Outcomes and corresponding VALUE Rubrics. Dr. Rose holds a PhD in Public Policy & Administration, a Master's in Public Administration (both from Walden University), an MS in Criminal Justice, and a BS in Corrections and Juvenile Services (both from Eastern Kentucky University).

## **CONTRIBUTORS**

Chadia Abras, PhD, joined the Provost's Office in July 2019 as Johns Hopkins University's inaugural Director of Institutional Assessment. In this role, Dr. Abras collaborates with a variety of institutional stakeholders to support quality student learning by assisting academic programs in developing and refining assessment plans, meeting the goals of defined learning outcomes, and encouraging a culture of learner-centered education. She plays a key role in ensuring ongoing compliance with standards of the Middle States Commission on Higher Education by promoting institutional effectiveness and fostering a culture of continuous improvement. Dr. Abras is an associate professor at the Johns Hopkins School of Education where she served most recently as the associate dean of accreditation, assessment, and technology. Dr. Abras earned an MS in French Literature from the University of Maryland and a PhD in Language Literacy and Culture from the University of Maryland Baltimore County.

Daphne Bernard, PharmD, RPh, is a dynamic, solutions-oriented executive leader with over twenty years of clinical experience, nine years of academic leadership, and seventeen years of government regulatory affairs professional licensure oversight. In her academic administrative role at Howard University, Dr. Bernard oversees all aspects of accreditation and assessment for the university. She also serves as the Middle States Commission on Higher Education Academic Liaison Officer for the university. Prior to being appointed as an Associate Provost, she most recently served as Interim Dean of the College of Pharmacy at Howard University where she is also an Associate Professor. With twenty years as a respected and accomplished

professional and academic administrator, Dr. Bernard is considered a leader in academic assessment and accreditation with a true commitment to academic excellence and servant leadership.

Brian Bogert is the director of Institutional Research at Wilkes University. Over the past several years, he has also served as the standing co-chair of the University's assessment committee. Prior to joining Wilkes, Bogert served as a research associate at the Association of Independent Colleges & Universities of Pennsylvania (AICUP). He holds a BA in Humanities from York College of Pennsylvania and an MS in Psychology from Indiana State University. He is currently a doctoral student in Educational Leadership at Wilkes University.

Rosalie Bojos, EdD, is the current Student Learning Outcomes Assessment Coach and a full-time Faculty member at the College of the Marshall Islands (CMI). She teaches noncredit English courses in the Developmental Education Department. In her decade of teaching at CMI, she has been actively involved in High-Impact Practices like the First-Year Residential Experience, Learning Communities, and the Accelerated English Program. Rosalie holds an EdD in English Language Teaching from Cebu Normal University, Philippines; an MA in English from University of Bohol; a BS in Secondary Education; a BA in English from Bohol Institute of Technology, Philippines; and a Professional Certificate in Online Education from University of Wisconsin-Madison. Prior to her employment with CMI, Rosalie served as an assistant professor for Holy Name University and as a senior English instructor for Bohol Institute of Technology, Philippines. She continues to work toward improving assessment and increasing student learning success.

Khalilah V. Burton, EdD, is the vice provost for institutional effectiveness, planning, and compliance at Columbia Southern University. She began her higher education career over 15 years ago as a full-time natural sciences instructor at community colleges and research institutions. In her current role, Burton oversees institutional compliance, academic assessment, institutional research, and strategic planning. She has dedicated the last ten years to research in the areas of learner assessment and institutional accreditation cultures in higher education. Burton's accreditation experience is with the Distance Education Accrediting Commission, where she currently serves as commissioner, Southern Association for Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges, Accreditation Commission for Education in Nursing, Council on Occupational Education, and the Accrediting Commission of Career Schools and Colleges. Burton holds a BS and an MS in Biology from

Alabama A&M University and an EdD in Higher Education from Morgan State University.

Gina Chase serves as the assistant dean for Academic Services at SUNY Broome Community College. In her role, she provides leadership to Academic Advising, Career and Transfer Services, Accessibility Resources Office, Tutoring Services, the Math Lab and Writing Center, and the Academic Coaching Network. Gina has worked in higher education within the SUNY system for 12 years and joined the SUNY Broome community in 2015. In her previous role at SUNY Broome, Gina helped lead efforts to open the college's Career Center, which included establishing its mission, vision, and department assessment plan. In her most recent role, she has led efforts to redesign the college's advising model to scale holistic and proactive advising across campus. Gina earned her master's degree in Student Affairs Administration from Binghamton University and bachelor's degree from SUNY Oneonta.

Jody Cormack, DPT, MSEd, is the vice provost for Academic Programs and Dean of Graduate Studies at California State University Long Beach (CSULB). Prior to her administrative role, she served as a faculty member and Director of Clinical Education and then Chair in the Department of Physical Therapy. Dr. Cormack received her BS in Physical Therapy from CSULB, followed by an MS in Biokinesiology, a Doctorate in Physical Therapy, and an MS in Education from the University of Southern California. In addition to the curriculum, assessment, and leadership focus of her Education degree, Dr. Cormack completed a Leadership in higher education fellowship offered by the APTA Educational Leadership Institute and was a member of the WSCUC Assessment Leadership Academy.

Patrick Dempsey, EdD, is the director of the Office of Digital Teaching & Learning at Loyola University Maryland. Patrick has an EdD in Curriculum and Instruction, an MBA in Organizational Management, MDiv in Professional Ministries, and MA in Pastoral Counseling. He has published and presented widely on instructional design, communities of inquiry and transformative learning, and quality assurance in online classes. He is the author of Creating Transformative Online Communities in Higher Education (2021).

Maura Devlin, PhD, is the Dean of Institutional Effectiveness and Accreditation at Bay Path University, where she oversees curricular quality, assessment of student learning, accreditation, and compliance initiatives. In her 16 years with the University, she has served as the Dean of

#### xxii Contributors

Undergraduate Studies, Deputy Chief Learning Officer, Academic Program Director and Instructor, and Sr. Director of Advising and Student Support. She currently is Project Director of a student success-oriented Title III Department of Education grant to develop a Guided Pathways framework and reframe student support initiatives, undergirded by technology platforms. She holds a PhD in Educational Policy and Leadership and a Master's in Public Policy and Administration from UMass Amherst and a BA from Colgate University. She has published and presented on holistic approaches to assessment, data-driven course design, adaptive learning, and promoting student engagement in online environments. She is passionate about equitable access to and completion of quality degree programs.

Heather Gould, EdD, is currently Associate Dean of Advising & Student Support and Activity Director of a Federal Title III Grant at Bay Path University, where she oversees wraparound support services, student success initiatives, and numerous grant activities related to career services, curriculum redesign, and reframed student supports among others. In her 10 years with the university, she has held positions in admissions, advising, and program and grant management. She holds an EdD in Higher Education Administration from Northeastern University and has published and presented on holistic approaches to advising, adaptive learning, and promoting student engagement in online environments. Her research interests include the social engagement of online learners as a method of increasing retention rates in distance learning programs, and continuous improvement in the area of holistic student support.

Gretchen Heaton is the Dean of Career Development and Executive Director of the WELL Program at Bay Path University. She oversees all career and experiential learning initiatives for students and alumni, as well as the college's signature undergraduate leadership development program and its e-portfolio and mentoring programs. She is a certified career coach and salary negotiation facilitator with more than a decade of experience in higher education administration and career development. She holds a graduate certificate in leadership and negotiation from Bay Path University, as well as a BA in Spanish from Smith College and an MA in women's and gender studies from the University of Texas at Austin. She is passionate about creating a forward-thinking culture of career development within universities that promotes student success, equity, and economic mobility for all.

**John T. Hope,** PhD, is the director of academic assessment at Columbia Southern University. In this role, Hope collaborates with faculty and staff

to advance academic programs and student success through the assessment of student learning and academic program review. He also leads an instructional design and technology master's program as the academic program director and faculty member at Waldorf University. John has over 25 years of experience in education that has contributed to the building of core competencies in curriculum development, classroom instruction, and assessment. Over the years, both Hope and his students have been recognized for their accomplishments in the field. He is an active member for several professional organizations and has served on advisory boards for leading industry providers. Hope holds an MEd from the University of Montevallo and a PhD in Instructional Design and Development from the University of South Alabama.

Claire Jenson is Senior Director, Institutional Effectiveness and Accreditation at Bay Path University. Claire Jenson supports institutional assessment and accreditation, manages University surveys, and leads processes relating to program evaluation and learning outcome assessment. In her work, Claire shares her passion for integrating data at the center of academic operations, to improve curriculum, instruction, and student outcomes. Claire joined BPU in 2019, drawn to the institutional mission to empower students—especially those marginalized by gender, race, income, or other social circumstance—with access to higher education and the support to succeed in their learning, careers, and lives. Claire entered the field of higher education administration after pursuing a path in teaching and researching art history, having earned an MA from the University of Chicago and a BA from Oberlin College.

Penny A. Kelly, EdD, is the vice president for Academic Affairs at SUNY Broome Community College. In her role, she provides leadership of four academic divisions including oversight of Institutional Effectiveness, Academic Services, Advising and Career Services, Enrollment and Admissions, Workforce Development, Library and Registrar. She previously served as Vice President of Academic and Student Affairs/Provost at SUNY Schenectady County Community College. Penny spent over ten years in the classroom teaching accounting to associate degree level students at a proprietary institution. Dr. Haynes has successfully led her last two institutions through the Middle States self-study process and serves as a Middle States peer reviewer serving on Self-Study teams (as a team member and chair), follow-up visits (as chair), and previous periodic review teams. Dr. Haynes holds a doctoral degree from Teacher's College Columbia University, master's degree from Binghamton University, bachelor's degree from SUNY Oneonta, and associate degree from SUNY Broome.

Elizabeth Kinne, PhD, is an assistant professor of Comparative Literature and English at the American University of Paris. Trained in French and English Medieval Studies and Women Studies, she received her MA and PhD at the Pennsylvania State University. Her teaching focuses on questions of gender in medieval and contemporary texts, gender history, and feminist theory. Her research focuses on medieval conduct literature, women in the military, and feminist ethics as applied to A.I. reflected in her current book project *Programming Women*. She publishes in French and English in journals such as *CLIO: Femmes, Genre, et Histoire* and *Arthuriana*. She has served as the coordinator of The American University of Paris's (AUP) signature first-year experience program, FirstBridge, since 2014, and on the General Education committee during the creation and implementation of the Global Liberal Arts Core Curriculum.

Jessica Lamendola, PhD, is the senior associate, assessment and learning improvement within the Outcomes Assessment Office at Excelsior University. Lamendola has been working in outcomes assessment for over seven years, overseeing the academic assessment process for business, technology, and liberal arts programs. She leads the specialized accreditation efforts for business and technology programs. Lamendola received her PhD from the University at Albany/SUNY.

Christine Mahady, EdD, holds a bachelor's degree in Music from Seton Hill University, where she also earned K-12 teaching certification. She has a master's degree in music education from the Boston Conservatory. While in Boston, she worked as a music educator and began to understand the importance of mental health impacts in education. At Propel Charter School in Pittsburgh PA, she worked as creative arts leader, helping to open several campuses while completing a second master's degree in marriage and family therapy. From 2013 to 2018, she served as the principal of Greensburg Central Catholic Junior Senior HS. Her principal certification and doctorate in educational and organizational leadership is from the University of Pennsylvania's Graduate School of Education in which her dissertation was focused on women college presidents. Her research interests include Women's Leadership, Systems Theory, Emotional Intelligence, and Trauma Informed Leadership.

Linda Martz, PhD, is associate professor of History and Politics. Her interdisciplinary background includes degrees in International Relations and Islamic Studies from Scripps College, the certification year in Applied Linguistics from UCLA, and Maîtrise, DEA and Doctorat in Langue et Civilisations Anglophones, with emphasis on gender history, from the University of Paris VII. Her current research interests focus on women's access to professional spaces. She has taught at AUP part time since the early 1990s and full time since 2001. She was Director of the Foundation Program, which she coconceived to facilitate the integration of students with emerging English competence into the general curriculum, from 2006 to 2017. She was Director of Academic Advising and codirector for The Center for Academic, Career, and Experiential Learning Advising from 2017 to 2020. Her extensive service on university committees includes chairing the joint Curriculum Committee-General Education Taskforce (2017–18) and Summer General Education Taskforce (2018) that produced the Liberal Arts Core Capabilities that also serve as AUP's Institutional Learning Outcomes.

Kimberly McLain is the Dean of Institutional Effectiveness at SUNY Broome Community College. In her role, she provides leadership, vision, and direction for strategic planning and institutional effectiveness through organized and systematized assessment processes. Kim works with administrative and academic departments in goal and assessment plan development to aid the college in its collective attainment of its mission and strategic plan. As Co-Chair of the Middle States Self-Study process, she helped lead the college through a successful reaccreditation. In addition, Kim facilitates the collection, analysis, and reporting of institutional data to inform decision-making. Dr. McLain holds a doctoral degree from the University at Buffalo, a master's degree from the University of Scranton, a bachelor's degree from Binghamton University, and two associate degrees from SUNY Broome. Kim has extensive experience teaching in higher education and is a Licensed Mental Health Counselor and Licensed Registered Nurse in the State of NY.

Meagan Mielczarek, PhD, served as the Director of Assessment at Wilkes University from 2019 until June 2022. She now serves as the Head of Education and Assessment at Enflux. She holds a BA in English and Communications from Wilkes University, an MA in Secondary Education from Lehigh University, and a doctoral degree in Human Development with a focus in Higher Education Administration from Marywood University. Prior to working in higher education, Dr. Mielczarek was a 7–12 public school teacher in English. She currently serves as the Director of Assessment to the Nesbitt School of Pharmacy at Wilkes University. Dr. Mielczarek's work focuses on the assessment of programmatic and student learning outcomes and she has served both academic and non-academic units in professional programs, accelerated, adult distance learning programs, and on-campus, traditional liberal arts programs.

**Judith L. Millesen** is a professor and MPA Director at the College of Charleston. Her research focuses on making a strong link between theory and practice and is focused on nonprofit administration and capacity building in the sector with special interests in board governance and community philanthropy.

Lon Olson, PhD, Head of Assessment at Texas State University, guides the development and assessment of four types of outcomes: educational program, general education, academic and student services, and administrative. In addition, he supports the development, delivery, and assessment of Texas State's Quality Enhancement Plan pertaining to undergraduate research. He also teaches an introductory course in the Department of Philosophy. Prior to joining Texas State University, Dr. Olson taught ethics and philosophy at the U.S. Naval Academy and served as Chair of the Faculty Senate Assessment Committee. Dr. Olson earned his BS at the University of Wisconsin-Madison, his Master of Military Science at Marine Corps University, and his PhD at the University of Texas at Austin.

Lynn Pasquerella, PhD, was appointed president of the American Association of Colleges and Universities in 2016, after serving as the eighteenth president of Mount Holyoke College. She held positions as Provost at the University of Hartford and Vice Provost for Academic Affairs and Dean of the Graduate School at the University of Rhode Island. A philosopher whose work has combined teaching and scholarship with local and global engagement, Pasquerella has written extensively on medical ethics, metaphysics, public policy, and the philosophy of law. Her most recent book, What We Value: Public Health, Social Justice, and Educating for Democracy, examines the role of higher education in addressing some of the most pressing contemporary issues at the intersection of ethics, law, and public policy. Pasquerella is immediate past president of the Phi Beta Kappa Society and the host of Northeast Public Radio's The Academic Minute.

Glenn Allen Phillips worked in assessment and institutional effectiveness at The University of Texas at Arlington and Texas A&M University before joining Howard University in 2018. A committed educator, he spent 15 years in community college and university classrooms teaching a range of subjects before his role as an assessment professional. He is committed to measurable and meaningful assessment practices that are integrated into the specific assessment needs of each unit. Phillips supports academic and nonacademic units as they work toward sustainable practices of continuous improvement. He also teaches graduate courses in Higher Education at Howard and Georgetown.

Claudio Piani, PhD, is the Dean of Institutional Research, Assessment, and Effectiveness. Claudio studied oceanography and atmospheric sciences at the University of Washington, Seattle, funded by a comprehensive four-year Fulbright scholarship. He obtained his PhD in 2000 with a thesis on tropical thunderstorms. He went on to work as a post-doctoral researcher on ozone, atmospheric dynamics, and climate change at the University of Oxford in the Atmospheric, Oceanic, and Planetary Physics Department. In 2006, he moved to The International Center for Theoretical Physics (a United Nations Institute), Trieste, where he was twice awarded funds from the European Union for research in hydrological modeling. Claudio remained at ICTP as a visiting scientist until joining the faculty of The American University of Paris in 2012. His current research interests are bias-correction of climate model output and climate-driven evolutionary biology.

**Rebecca Pohl** serves as Institutional Research Coordinator at God's Bible School and College (GBSC). She graduated from GBSC's Teacher Education program, receiving the program's 2019 Student Teaching Excellence Award. As Institutional Research Coordinator, Rebecca administers GBSC's assessment program, including the survey suite shared with other institutions. She also analyzes results and prepares assessment reports for institutional leadership and the GBSC Board.

**Aaron D. Profitt**, PhD, serves as the Vice President for Academic Affairs at God's Bible School and College (GBSC). His PhD (University of Cincinnati) focused on quantitative and action research, as well as assessment and evaluation. In addition to his work with assessment at GBSC, he regularly works with assessment-related standards on accreditation teams for the Association for Biblical Higher Education (ABHE). He has also presented on assessment at ABHE conferences for new/emerging institutions.

Kristine Pruett, EdD, directs the operations and planning of the Office of Technology for Teaching and Learning and coordinates state authorization at Wilkes University. Kristine has her master's degree in Instructional Technology and doctorate of Educational Leadership with a concentration in Higher Education Administration both from Wilkes University. Since joining the university staff in 2000, Dr. Pruett has held many roles including assistant to the vice president for Strategic Initiatives, assistant to the dean in the College of Graduate and Professional Studies, and director of operations for the graduate education department. Her expertise is in new program development and implementation, project management, partnership development, strategic planning, and online program management and

#### xxviii Contributors

scalability. Kristine has presented on various technology and assessment topics at state and national conferences.

Holly Raffle is a professor in the Voinovich School of Leadership and Public Service at Ohio University where she also serves as the Faculty Director of the Ohio Center of Excellence for Behavioral Health Prevention and Promotion. Her area of focus is capacity building among community-based coalitions and youth-led programs focused on preventing substance use disorder and/or promoting mental health.

Sneharika Roy, PhD, is an associate professor at The American University of Paris where she teaches Comparative Literature and Postcolonial Studies. Her book *The Postcolonial Epic* (Routledge 2018) bridges classical and postcolonial scholarship to formulate a postcolonial paradigm of epic. It received European Society for English's Book Award for Junior Scholars (2018). Roy is also a contributor to the MLA volume on *Approaches to Teaching Amitav Ghosh* and to *Dictionnaire des littératures indiennes* (upcoming), an encyclopedic dictionary on Indian literatures. Her recent research interests focus on postcolonial articulations of Black thought, ecocriticism, and animal studies. She is currently the coordinator of AUP's Writing across the Disciplines program. During her double mandate as Chair of the Global Liberal Arts Core Curriculum committee, she oversaw the implementation of the new liberal arts program and the first phase of its assessment.

Sharlene Sayegh, PhD, is the Director of Institutional Assessment and Accreditation Liaison Officer at California State University, Long Beach. Previously, she served as Director of Program Review & Assessment and was a History Department faculty member. She is a graduate of WSCUC's Assessment Leadership Academy (ALA) and has facilitated assessment workshops for WSCUC and organizations in the United States and Europe. She is also an experienced accreditation peer evaluator. Sayegh has presented her academic and assessment work at numerous conferences and coauthored the textbook *History and Theory*. She has merged her diverse expertise by facilitating several professional-development workshops for Southern California high-school teachers and served numerous capacities at the AP World History readings. A first-generation college student, Sayegh, earned her BA in History and MA in History and Sociology at the University of Nevada, Las Vegas and her PhD in History and Critical Theory from the University of California, Irvine.

Janet Simon Schreck, PhD, CCC-SLP, FNAP, serves as Senior Associate Vice Provost for Academic Affairs and Accreditation Liaison at Johns

Hopkins University where she collaborates with a broad cross-section of the campus community to identify cross-cutting goals and initiatives that improve undergraduate and graduate education. She also oversees academic compliance, accreditation, as well as institutional and learning assessment. Dr. Schreck is an associate professor in the School of Education. As licensed and certified Speech-Language Pathologist with a focus on neurogenic disorders in adults, Dr. Schreck has published multiple articles and delivered numerous national presentations on the topics of cognitive-communication changes associated with typical aging as well as screening, assessment, and treatment of cognitive-communication disorders associated with dementia. Dr. Schreck earned her BA and MS in Speech-Language Pathology from Loyola University Maryland and PhD in Gerontology from the University of Maryland, Baltimore.

**Kyle Shanks**, PhD, is the Assessment Director in the College of Education at Tennessee Tech University. Before joining Tennessee Tech, Dr. Shanks worked for Howard University in Washington, DC, and as a consultant in the educational technology sphere. He has expertise in outcomes assessment, strategic planning, and survey development. He also has expertise in instrument development, validation, and reporting, which he provided in his tenure as a research assistant for the NSF funded Critical Thinking Assessment (CAT) test.

Britt Spears-Rhymes, PhD, is a higher education professional who began her involvement in the field participating in academic and social enrichment programs as an undergraduate student at Prairie View A&M University. During her educational experiences, she served as an HBCU Scholar with the White House Initiative for HBCUs and became an advocate for historically underrepresented populations. This led her to pursue her graduate studies focusing her research on access, equity, and inclusion, and the student experience. She currently serves as the Assessment Coordinator in Howard University's Office of Institutional Research & Assessment where she manages the annual assessment process and supports the general education assessment process. In the past, she has created and led initiatives that highlighted assessment of student learning at HBCUs centering equity and inclusion at the root of these practices. Her experience includes rubrics-based assessment, student affairs and administrative assessment, and general education assessment.

Michael Stöpel is the User Services Librarian for the AUP. Originally from Munich (Germany), he joined AUP in 2001. He received his MA in Library and Information Science (MLIS) in 2010 from the Information School

at the Humboldt University in Berlin, Germany. Before coming to AUP, Michael Stöpel studied Sociology in Munich and in Paris. His passion for information literacy began when he started working at the AUP Library and has grown to include digital and media literacies. Since 2015, he is the Chair of the Information Literacy Committee for the AMICAL consortium. In 2020, he coedited the book *Faculty-Librarian Collaborations Integrating the Information Literacy Framework into Disciplinary Courses* (2020) for the Association of College and Research Libraries.

Elizabeth Switaj, PhD, is the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs at the College of the Marshall Islands. She has worked in the United States, Japan, China, and the United Kingdom. She holds a PhD in English from Queen's University Belfast, an MFA in Poetics and Creative Writing from New College of California, a BA from the Evergreen State College, and an AAS from Bellevue College. She is the author of two collections of poetry (*The Bringers of Fruit: An Oratorio*, 11:11 Press, 2022 and Magdalene & the Mermaids, Paper Kite Press, 2009) and one book of literary criticism (*James Joyce's Teaching Life and Methods*, Palgrave Macmillan, 2016).

Cheryl Vila is the Director of Institutional Research and Assessment (IRA) at the College of the Marshall Islands (CMI). Cheryl holds a degree in Computer Science and Mathematics from the University of the Philippines with the MS in Mathematics under a full scholarship program. She also completed degree requirements for MA in Demography in the same university as a fellowship awardee. Prior to serving as the Director of IRA, she was a full-time faculty member in IT and Mathematics in a few colleges and universities for more than 15 years. As teaching has always been her first passion, she continues to teach as an adjunct faculty member in CMI. In 2018, she was awarded the Data and Decisions Academy Presidential Scholarship by the Association for Institutional Research. She continuously leads and engages in accreditation, data governance, and institutional planning and effectiveness efforts of CMI.

Joanne Weiss, EdD, is Provost and Sr. Vice President for Institutional Effectiveness and Quality Assurance at Aspen University, a private, for-profit institution of 12,000 students. Her experiences lie in writing accreditation-related self-studies and reporting, implementing assessment management systems for the online modality, developing institutional research and strategic planning functions, facilitating initial faculty buy-in and use of data for improving instructional pedagogy and curricular/programmatic improvement, and conducting faculty/staff professional development. Dr. Weiss

holds an EdD in Higher Education Leadership, a MAED in Curriculum and Instruction, a BA in Sociology, and a lifetime elementary teaching certificate in New Jersey; she is also a graduate of WSCUC's Assessment Leadership Academy.

Terrence Willett has over 20-year experience in education and is currently Dean of Research, Planning, and Institutional Effectiveness at Cabrillo College. He is also a Consulting Senior Researcher with the Research and Planning Group for California Community Colleges (RP Group) on the Multiple Measures Assessment Project (MMAP) that develops predictive models for student placement. His recent publications are in the Community College Review, the Journal of Applied Research in Community Colleges, Sage Skills: Business for Data Analytics, as well as a chapter on remediation reform in Empowering the Community College First-Year Composition Teacher. Mr. Willett earned a BA in Psychology from the University of California at Santa Cruz and an MS in Environmental Studies from San José State University. He also served as a math and science tutor while a student at Cabrillo College for the Math Learning Center, MESA, and Disabled Students Programs and Services.

Beth Wuest, PhD, Associate Vice President for Institutional Effectiveness and Associate Professor at Texas State University serves as the university's SACSCOC Liaison. Recently, Wuest led the development of Texas State's reaffirmation of accreditation and hosted the virtual on-site review. Previously, she led the submission of Fifth-Year Interim Report, cochaired the development of the QEP at Texas State, and served as a SACSCOC reviewer and QEP evaluator for other institutions. She is directly responsible for academic program review, program accreditation, and institutional accreditation. Wuest also oversees institutional research, strategic planning, institutional policies, and assessment functions at Texas State. She also provides leadership for the assessment functions of the general education curriculum, student support services, and administrative units. She holds a tenured-faculty position and previously directed faculty development initiatives for Texas State. Dr. Wuest earned her BS at North Dakota State University, her MA at Michigan State University, and her PhD at the University of Minnesota.

Anthony K. Wutoh, PhD, serves as the Provost and Chief Academic Officer of Howard University. He previously served in various roles at the University including as Dean of the College of Pharmacy and Assistant Provost for International Programs. He has also served as Director for the Center for Minority Health Services Research, and the Center of Excellence.

#### xxxii Contributors

Dr. Wutoh has varied research interests including pharmacoepidemiology, international health, health services/outcomes research, and evaluation of large population databases, particularly in the area of AIDS and HIV infection in older patients. An accomplished administrator, faculty member, and health professional, Dr. Wutoh is an advocate for sensible assessment activities that both meet requirements for compliance and push academic programs toward continuous improvement.

Sydney Yau, DPM, is the Associate Dean of Educational Affairs at the Scholl College of Podiatric Medicine in North Chicago, IL. Dr. Yau monitors progress regarding achievement of programmatic and student learning outcomes/competencies for the College, supports accreditation and academic regulatory activities for the College, and promotes and contributes to the implementation of strategic initiatives for the College.

### **FOREWORD**

Lynn Pasquerella President of the American Association of Colleges and Universities

AAC&U is thrilled to be partnering with Routledge/Taylor & Francis in copublishing the second volume of Exemplars of Assessment in Higher Education. When the first volume appeared in 2021, it offered a diverse array of successful assessment practices, immediately proving itself to be an invaluable resource for colleges and universities of all types. One of the book's most significant contributions is its illustration that there is no one-size-fits-all approach to assessment. Indeed, each chapter unveils how common principles of good assessment practice and exemplary models of assessment can be adapted, centering the mission and unique character of individual institutions to identify various strategies. Rooted in the principles of transparency, intentionality, shared expectations, and continuous improvement, like AAC&U's Valid Assessment of Learning in Undergraduate Education (VALUE) initiative, these strategies are intended to help institutions achieve their own assessment goals, while promoting the cross-pollination of ideas and best practices across the growing community of assessment professionals.

What Exemplars of Assessment in Higher Education adds to the already rich and robust discourse around assessment is the collective perspective and guidance of seasoned accreditors. In preparing this second volume, Tara Rose and Jane Marie Souza once again consulted widely among accreditors to identify institutions that have exhibited excellence in assessment and whose successful practices can productively inform assessment efforts across higher education. Yet, this current work reflects research undertaken in a

radically different context and against the backdrop of a rapidly changing higher education landscape.

The worst global pandemic in more than a century coincided with a profound moment of racial reckoning, presenting a resilience test that challenged every aspect of college and university operations, from admissions, curriculum delivery, and assessment to retention, finances, and student well-being. Escalating culture wars, fueled by polarization and partisanship, have led to the increased politicization of higher education, including governmental intrusion and legislative overreach. Educational "gag orders" dictating what can be taught on college and university campuses and by whom, the banning of books, a mandate that public institutions in one state change their accreditors each review cycle, and a flurry of proposals to evaluate academic programs based solely on employability potential constitute infringements on institutional autonomy that threaten to erode the very foundations of academic freedom and shared governance upon which American higher education is built.

Nevertheless, the burgeoning skepticism around the value of a college degree and bipartisan concern that college is too expensive, too difficult to access, and doesn't teach people twenty-first-century skills must be addressed if we are to restore public trust in higher education. Assessment, in partnership with accreditors, can play a critical role in bolstering confidence by ensuring that colleges and universities are fulfilling their institutional missions and engaging in practices that advance student success in work, citizenship, and life. Rather than the broad assessment categories of student learning, the disciplines, faculty engagement, and institutional effectiveness, the exemplars presented in this new volume represent four important themes: career readiness; diversity, equity, and inclusion; general education; and distance education. Moreover, all authors address the impact of the pandemic on their efforts.

In the process, they demonstrate that despite the enormous challenges confronting today's colleges and universities, there is an extraordinary opportunity to revolutionize and reimagine higher education in ways that meet the equity and excellence imperatives before us. The result is a "must read" for assessment practitioners across higher education, for those involved in the preparation of an accreditation self-study, and for anyone committed to advancing the democratic purposes of higher education.

#### **PREFACE**

The first volume of Exemplars of Assessment in Higher Education: Diverse Approaches to Addressing Accreditation Standards was released in June 2021 at the annual conference for the Association of Assessment in Higher Education (AALHE), which was held virtually due to the pandemic. However, the chapters were written long before the nation and the world changed dramatically. The twenty cases were presented to offer readers examples of how institutions were using diverse strategies for meeting and exceeding accreditation standards in four focus areas: student learning and assessment, assessment in the disciplines, faculty engagement and assessment, and institutional effectiveness and assessment. All 24 contributing institutions were recommended to us by the twelve accrediting agencies who partnered with us on that publication.

In early 2022, Dr. Tara Rose and I realized that while the first volume was well received and served its purpose of providing readers with unique approaches to assessment, it did not address the changed environment after the fateful year of 2020. According to the Centers for Disease Control, in February 2020, the corona virus was named COVID-19, and by mid-March, states began to implement shutdowns. Campuses across the country abruptly transitioned to online teaching and learning. The pandemic challenged institutions to maintain academic quality as they worked in a modality unfamiliar to many of them. In addition to the anticipated challenges such as inconsistent access to the internet, lost housing, and food insecurity, the virus displayed in raised relief inequities on multiple levels.

On May 25, 2020, the world changed again when George Perry Floyd Jr. was murdered by police. The horrific violence video-recorded and shared with the world had a powerful impact on the higher education community. Institutions heightened their review of policies, practices, teaching, learning, and assessment through the lens of diversity, equity, and inclusion. Dr. Merrill L. Irving Jr., president of Hennepin Technical College in Brooklyn Park, Minnesota, posed this question (2020): "If all our institutions were reviewing for policies and practices that discriminate, could it be the vaccination we need for campuses true to a culture of anti-racism and cultural competence?" (pp. 8–9)

These events of 2020 prompted us to revisit case studies on campuses to see how these global and national crises impacted assessment practices in higher education. Therefore, we went back to accrediting agencies and once again requested recommendations for institutions to highlight. The result of these efforts is this second volume, *Exemplars of Assessment in Higher Education: Strategies for a Changing Higher Education Environment*. This book presents the experiences of seventeen institutions suggested by eleven accrediting bodies. The case studies are organized in four themes: Career Readiness; General Education; Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion; and Distance Education.

The stories presented are powerful. They include narratives of how the murder of George Floyd prompted a college name change, how it encouraged a deep exploration into the impact of trauma on teaching and learning, and how it suggested a study on equitable remediation reform. The chapters relate how COVID-19 catalyzed lasting change in teaching modalities and sparked innovation in approaches to assessment. Overall, this volume builds on the work of the first publication and offers exemplars dealing with the challenges of contemporary events.

We thank all our contributing authors who have generously shared their time, stories, and expertise. We are grateful for the support of the Routledge/Taylor and Francis Group and the partnership with American Association of Colleges and Universities (AAC&U) for their roles in bringing this volume to print. We are particularly thankful for the thoughtful foreword penned by AAC&U President Lynn Pasquerella.

Finally, we want to express our gratitude to the eleven accreditors who worked with us to identify these exemplars: Gohar Momjian (AACJC), Lisa Beatty (ABHE), Heather Stagliano (CPME), Leah K. Matthews (DEAC), Ellie A. Fogarty (MSCHE), Martha Bohrt (NASPAA), Patricia O'Brien (NECHE), Belle S. Wheelan (SACSCOC), and David Chase (WSCUC). We also thank ABET and AACSB; while they cannot specifically endorse an individual program or institution, they did indicate that they were confident that each accredited program meets the quality standards of the profession.

We hope that readers across the spectrum of institutional types find these exemplars useful as they too struggle to rise to the challenges of the ever-changing higher education environment.

Jane Marie Souza

#### Reference

Irving, Merrill L, Jr. (2020) A Black college president's reflection: George Floyd, racism, impact and call for action. *Community College Journal*, 91(1), 8–9.



## INTRODUCTION

Tara A. Rose

This second volume of *Exemplars of Assessment in Higher Education* provides examples of assessment practice in 17 distinct Higher Education Institutions (HEI); 15 in the United States; 1 in Paris, France; and 1 in the Republic of the Marshall Islands. We have institutions that provide opportunities for students from diverse economic, cultural, and educational backgrounds. The institution diversity makeup includes 11 private institutions; four public four-year institutions; two public two-year institutions; and three minority serving institutions, two which are Hispanic Serving Institutions and one Historically Black College or University.

All institutions represented in this book were suggested by their accreditor as having an effective assessment approach in one or more of the following assessment focused areas: career readiness; distance education; diversity, equity, and inclusion; or general education.

#### About AAC&U

The American Association of Colleges & Universities (AAC&U), founded in 1915, is an institutional membership association consisting of educators and thought leaders interested in advancing liberal education, which is "an approach to undergraduate education that promotes integration of learning across the curriculum and cocurriculum, and between academic and experiential learning, in order to develop specific learning outcomes that are essential for work, citizenship, and life" (American Association of Colleges & Universities [AAC&U], n.d). As such, the organization partners with a diverse set of higher education institutions and organizations

DOI: 10.4324/9781003444695-1

across the world. The association's mission is to advance the democratic purposes of higher education by promoting equity, innovation, and excellence in liberal education (AAC&U, n.d.).

Due to the many challenges facing higher education, in July of 2021, AAC&U launched its strategic planning process with the goal of opportunity; an opportunity for the association to lessen the impact of challenges facing educators today. These challenges include the COVID-19 pandemic, the continuing decline of post-secondary enrollment, the growing distrust of the value of a college degree, inequity and intolerance occurring in and across the nation, legislative overreach seen in many states, and the increase in student mental health issues (pp. 1–4). During these demanding times, accreditors' expectations have not lowered. Moreover, institutional practices have changed since our first volume of the book. Therefore, the need for exemplars in assessment is even more critical today.

Jane Marie and I feel strongly that our aspiration for this book aligns closely with AAC&U strategic goals. The work in this book is also congruent with AAC&U's commitment to authentic, educator-driven assessment through its Valid Assessment of Learning in Undergraduate Education (VALUE) initiative, a rubric-based approach to measuring student learning that is designed to capture evidence of student skills, abilities, and dispositions across a range of essential learning outcomes, from traditional cognitive and intellectual skills like critical thinking to outcomes related to personal and social responsibility like civic engagement and global learning. Within initiatives like VALUE, educators—and more specifically assessment practitioners—can find the support and encouragement they need to engage in pedagogically and methodologically robust assessment practices.

## **Contributing Institutional and Specialized Accreditors**

The accrediting agencies listed in Table I.1 are recognized as reliable authorities concerning the quality of education or training offered by the higher education institutions or programs they accredit.

## How the Book Is Organized

The book is organized into four parts representing distinct themes: (a) diversity, equity, and inclusion; (b) distance education; (c) career readiness; and (d) general education. Each part includes chapters using diverse approaches to addressing variety of accreditation standards.

**TABLE I.1** Contributing accreditors

Agency	URL
Accreditation Board for Engineering and Technology Accrediting Commission for Community and Junior Colleges (ACCJC) WASC Senior College and University Commission Association for Biblical Higher Education (ABHE) Association to Advance Collegiate Schools of Business (AACSB) Council on Podiatric Medical Education (CPME) Distance Education Accrediting Commission (DEAC) Middle State Commissions of Higher Education (MSCHE)	abet.org accjc.org wscuc.org abhe.edu aacsb.org cpme.org deac.org msche.org
New England Commission of Higher Education (NECHE) Network of Schools of Public Policy, Affairs, and Administration (NASPAA) Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges (SACSCOC)	neche.org naspaa.org sacscoc.org

#### Part One: Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion

### Chapter 1: Howard University

"Good Practice: Storytelling as Assessment (R)Evolution" shares how this HBCU embraced storytelling as a tool for data collection and dissemination in the unique culture of their community, recognizing both new and old practices of assessment.

### Chapter 2: California State University, Long Beach

"Aligning Strategic Planning, Accreditation, and Institutional Assessment for a Future-Ready University" discusses how the events of 2020 informed their assessment goals centered around belonging, sustainability, and wellness; encouraging institutions to think beyond the traditional shortterm strategic plan and better institutions for the future.

### Chapter 3: College of the Marshall Islands

"Supporting Diverse Faculty to Make Assessment Meaningful through Peer-Led Coaching" shares how the college enhanced learning improvement by creating a learning outcomes assessment coach, a full-time faculty member whose role is to lead, inspire, coach, and support other faculty.

#### Chapter 4: Cabrillo College

"Assessing Equity with Traditional and Novel Metrics in Times of Change" tells how the murder of George Floyd resulted in the college's name change, presents research on how various strategies from remediation to reform impacted student achievement, and shares research conducted to address equity gaps in access to, and completion of, college level courses; grading variability; and the impact of environmental disruptions such as the pandemic and catastrophic wildfires in California.

#### Part Two: Distance Education

### Chapter 5: Wilkes University

"Distance Learning in the Time of COVID: Increasing LMS Usage through Focused Faculty Development" shares how the university strategically began to address the usage disparity and faculty needs related to the learning management system, specifically increasing engagement in the areas of professional development and implementing more technology in the teaching and learning process.

## Chapter 6: Loyola University

"Trauma-Informed Course Design: Using Neurobiological Frameworks to Understand the Impacts of Trauma and Remove Barriers to Learning" emphasizes the commitment to their students as a whole person – *cura personalis*. In an effort to address trauma-related barriers to learning, the institution created a *Trauma-Informed Leadership* professional development course for educators and community partners focusing on the impacts that trauma can have on neurological functioning and how to teach through the lens trauma-informed practice.

### Chapter 7: Columbia Southern University

"A Standardized Process that Creates an Assessment Culture to Support Student Learning in Distance Education" shares how an effective structure with unified key players and a standardized curriculum process can be maintained even through unexpected disruptions to higher education.

### Chapter 8: Excelsior College

"Assessing an Online Nuclear Engineering Technology Program" uses one program to describe how collaboration can be key to any successful assessment process. With one full-time faculty member and two advisory committees—faculty and industry; the NET program has successfully managed to build and sustain a comprehensive assessment process at a distance

### Chapter 9: Aspen University

"Embedded Assessment to Measure Student Achievement in the Online Modality" shares how their finely tuned assessment of student learning processes, ASL Machine, has led to a level of consistency and usefulness at both the program and institutional levels to improve the student experience.

#### Part Three: Career Readiness

#### Chapter 10: The John Hopkins University

"Assessment Practices that Support Career Transitions for Doctoral Students" shares how formative and summative assessment of curricular, co- and extra-curricular learning mapped to competencies in a comprehensive learner record can provide a framework to assess career readiness competencies.

### Chapter 11: College of Charleston

"Using Portfolio-Based Assessments to Demonstrate Academic Competency, Encourage Professional Growth, and Inform Curricular Innovation" discusses how intentionality of a portfolio, purpose and process, can impact students and document mastery of competencies.

#### Chapter 12: Rosalind Franklin University

"Assessment that Impacts Career Success" describes how aligning a commitment to fulfilling institutional mission and the assessment process can impact career success.

#### Chapter 13: Bay Path University

"A Holistic Approach to Career Readiness Assessment in a Guided Pathways Framework" describes how the institution's development of guided pathways allowed it to leverage technology and data to gauge student progress toward graduate preparation in career readiness.

#### Part Four: General Education

#### Chapter 14: The American University of Paris

"Building a Signature General Education Program with Alignment and Assessment among Its Founding Principles" describes how driving principles of alignment, assessment, and a faculty-defined assessment structure for a new general education program led to a series of curricular and co-curricular activities.

### Chapter 15: Texas State University

"General Education Assessment: Course-Based to Comprehensive Assessment of Student Learning" relates to reimagining a general education program, where an institution must understand the relevance of the core and development of a curriculum that reflects relevance so that excellence can be achieved.

#### Chapter 16: God's Bible School and College

"Collaborative General Education Assessment among Mission-Focused Institutions" shares how six small colleges have come together to develop an indirect approach to assessing a mission-focused general education program, a project that encourages collaboration rather than competition.

### Chapter 17: SUNY Broome Community College

"Remodeling Academic Advising into a Holistic Case Management Model and Assessing the Effectiveness of The Model and the Impact on Students" shares how the pandemic inspired the college to revise its student advising model to include a more proactive, effective, and holistic approach to ensure student success.

## **Carnegie Classification**

We know that the art of assessment is not a one-size-fits-all activity. While we are confident that our readers can take away something from each institution's exemplary assessment practices, there are situations in which an assessment practitioner might want to consider focusing on assessment approaches that work within their Carnegie Classification (see Table I.2). "The Carnegie Classification® is the leading framework for recognizing and describing institutional diversity in U.S." (American Council on Education, n.d.). Therefore, we provide a table of chapters sorted by Carnegie Classification.

Carnegie Classification Levels	Chapter Number
Associate's Colleges	4, 17
Baccalaureate/Associate's Colleges	3, 16
Doctoral Universities	1, 2, 5, 6, 10, 15
Master's Colleges	7, 8, 11, 13
Minority Serving Institutions	1, 2, 4, 15
Not classified*	14
Special Focus—Four-Year	9, 12

TABLE 1.2 Carnegie classification and chapter alignment

#### Conclusion

There are nearly 6,000 higher education institutions in the nation with the majority holding accreditation status recognized by the Council for Higher Education (CHEA) and/or the United States Department of Education. For most institutions, achieving accreditation is an absolute necessity. However, we view accrediting agencies as our partners in higher education: championing quality, integrity, and continuous improvement. It is our goal that the following chapters, suggested by accreditors, provide assessment practitioners, administrators, faculty, and staff with real-world examples of "what works" in assessment across a diverse selection of institutions.

#### References

American Association of Colleges & Universities. (n.d.). Mission. https://www. aacu.org/about

American Association of Colleges & Universities. (n.d.). What Is Liberal Education? https://www.aacu.org/trending-topics/what-is-liberal-education

American Council on Education. (n.d.). The Carnegie Classification of Institutions of Higher Education. https://carnegieclassifications.acenet.edu

<sup>\*</sup> Institutions not in the United States are not classified under the Carnegie Classification. Note: Data based on Basic 2019-2020 Carnegie Classification

### Introduction

American Association of Colleges & Universities . (n.d.). Mission. https://www.aacu.org/about American Association of Colleges & Universities . (n.d.). What Is Liberal Education? https://www.aacu.org/trending-topics/what-is-liberal-education

#### **Good Practice**

Banks-Wallace, J. (1999). Storytelling as a tool for providing holistic care to women. MCN: The American Journal of Maternal/Child Nursing, 24(1), 20–24.

Banks-Wallace, J. (2002). Talk that talk: Storytelling and analysis rooted in African American oral tradition. Qualitative Health Research, 12(3), 410–426.

Council for Higher Education Accreditation . (n.d.). Accreditation & Recognition. Council for Higher Education Accreditation. https://www.chea.org/about-accreditation.

Higher Education Act of 1965 Section-By-Section Analysis . (1965). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Office of Education.

Howard University . (n.d.). Mission & Core Values. Howard University.

https://howard.edu/about/mission#:~:text=Excellence%2C%20leadership%2C%20service%2C%20and,ones%20impacting%20the%20African%20Diaspora.

Miller, W., & Crabtree, B. (1999). The dance of interpretation. In B. Crabtree & W. Miller (Eds.) Doing Qualitative Research (2nd ed., pp. 127–144). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

# Aligning Strategic Planning, Accreditation, and Institutional Assessment for a Future-Ready University

Bell, T., Aubele, J. W., & Perruso, C. (2022). Digital Divide Issues Affecting Undergraduates at a Hispanic-Serving Institution during the Pandemic: A Mixed-Methods Approach. Education Sciences, 12, 115. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci12020115

Bolman, L. G. , & Deal, T. E. (2008). Reframing organizations: Artistry, choice, and leadership (4th ed.). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Brown, J. T. (2018). Leading Colleges and Universities in a New Policy Era: How to Understand the Complex Landscape of Higher Education Accountability. Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning, 50(2), 30–39. https://doi.org/10.1080/00091383.2018.1483175 Choudaha, R. , & van Rest, E. (2018). Envisioning Pathways to 2030: Megatrends Shaping the Future of Global Higher Education and International Student Mobility. Studyportals. ERIC Number ED592843 January 2018, p. 73, Online submission, Studyportals Jan. 2018. http://bit.ly/Megatrends2030 https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED592843

CSULB Pyramid . (2022). https://longbeachstate.com/sports/2018/7/31/sports-facilities-spec-rel-15-walter-pyramid-html.aspx

Espinosa, L. L., & Mitchell, T. (2020). The State of Race and Ethnicity in Higher Education. Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning, 52(2), 27–31. https://doi.org/10.1080/00091383.2020.1732769

Jankowski, N. A. (2020, August). Assessment during a crisis: Responding to a global pandemic. Urbana, IL: University of Illinois and Indiana University, National Institute for Learning Outcomes Assessment.

Maslow, Abraham H. (1943). A theory of human motivation. Psychological Review, 50(4), 370–396. CiteSeerX 10.1.1.334.7586. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0054346

Montenegro, E., & Jankowski, N.A. (2020, January). A new decade for assessment: Embedding equity into assessment praxis (Occasional Paper No. 42). Urbana, IL: University of Illinois and Indiana University, National Institute for Learning Outcomes Assessment

(NILOA).

Platt, S., & Sayegh, S. (2015, October). Student learning outcomes alignment through academic and student affairs partnerships. Urbana, IL: University of Illinois and Indiana University, National Institute for Learning Outcomes Assessment (NILOA).

Sayegh, S. (2013). Aligning Outcomes through the Curriculum (2013). Assessment Update, 25(6), 8–9.

Western Association of Schools and Colleges Senior College and University Commission (WSCUC) . (2015). 2013 handbook of accreditation, revised.

https://www.wscuc.org/handbook/

Western Association of Schools and Colleges Senior College and University Commission (WSCUC) . (n.d.) Thematic pathway for reaffirmation (TPR) guide.

https://www.wscuc.org/resources/tpr/

Western Association of Schools and Colleges Senior College and University Commission (WSCUC) . (2021). Commission action letter, TPR, February 2021 action.

https://wascsenior.app.box.com/s/vxd78g217pkpbgmhuhbws09o3cns4mvm

Western Association of Schools and Colleges Senior College and University Commission (WSCUC) . (2022). WSCUC 2022 standards of accreditation.

https://www.wscuc.org/2022standards/

# Supporting Diverse Faculty to Make Assessment Meaningful through Peer-Led Coaching

Banta, T.W., Jones, E.A., & Black, K.E. (2009). Designing effective assessment: Principles and profiles of good practice. Jossey-Bass.

College of the Marshall Islands – Institutional Effectiveness Committee . (2018). Terms of reference – learning outcomes assessment coach. https://drive.google.com/file/d/15-Msxq6Rls13p6dlorvtpj3E13iOwYXz/view.

Lederman, D. (2011, April 14). What's "good enough"? Inside Higher Ed.

https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2011/04/14/whats-good-enough.

Lindauer, J.R., & Coward, P.A. (2021). Assessment of student learning in the arts, humanities, social sciences, and sciences. In J.M. Souza & T. Rose (Eds.), Exemplars of assessment in higher education: Diverse approaches to addressing accreditation standards (pp. 64–82). Stylus Publishing.

Morse, D. et al. (2010). Guiding principles for SLO assessment - Merritt College. The Academic Senate for California Community Colleges. Retrieved August 20, 2022, from https://www.merritt.edu/slo/wp-content/uploads/sites/296/2014/02/Guiding-Principles-for-SLO-Assessment.pdf.

Suskie, L. (2015). Introduction to measuring co-curricular learning. New Directions for Institutional Research, 2014: 5–13. https://doi.org/10.1002/ir.20111.

# Assessing Equity with Traditional and Novel Metrics in Times of Change

Bahr, P. R., Fagioli, L. P., Hetts, J., Hayward, C., Willett, T., Lamoree, D., Newell, M. A., Sorey, K., & Baker, R. B. (2019). Improving placement accuracy in California's community colleges using multiple measures of high school achievement. Community College Review, 47(2), 178–211.

Belfield, C., & Crosta, P. M. (2012). Predicting success in college: The importance of placement tests and high school transcripts (CCRC Working Paper No. 42) (Working Paper). New York: Columbia University, Teachers College, Community College Research Center. Blohm, S., & Willett, T. (2015). Math Tutoring: Does it Work. Cabrillo College Research Report 2015085.

```
Boggs, G. R., & Galizio, L. (2021). A College for All Californians: A History of the California Community Colleges. Beaverton: Ringgold Inc.
```

Brohawn, K., Newell, M., & Fagioli, L. (2021). Enrollment and Success in Transfer-Level English and Math in the California Community College System: Fall 2015 to Fall 2019 Statewide Analysis. San Rafeal, CA: The Research and Planning Group for California Community Colleges. ERIC # ED611912

CCCCO . (2015). Equity Guidelines re: Proportionality Index.

https://extranet.ccco.edu/Portals/1/SSSP/StudentEquity/4%20Guidelines%20for%20Measuring%20Disproportionate%20Impact%20in%20Equity%20Plans.pdf

CCCCO . (2022). CCCCO Percentage Point Gap Minus One (PPG-1) Methodology Notes\_2022. https://launchboard-resources.wested.org/resources/113

Center for Urban Education . (2015). Equity Academy Participant Workbook, AAC&U Committing to Equity and Inclusive Excellence: Campus-Based Strategies for Student Success. Los Angeles, CA: Rossier School of Education, University of Southern California.

Czaja, R., & Blair, J. (2005). Questionnaire design: Writing the questions. In Designing Surveys (pp. 59–83). Pine Forge Press.https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412983877 Delgado, C., & Krishan, K. (2022, June, 14). Different Acceleration Approaches for Developmental Math Students at Hudson County Community College. The national

conference on acceleration in developmental education 2022, Annapolis, MD. Fairlie, R. W., Hoffmann, F., & Oreopoulos, P. (2014). A community college instructor like me: Race and ethnicity interactions in the classroom. American Economic Review, 104(8), 2567–2591.

Geiser, S., & Santelices, M. V. (2007). Validity of High-School Grades in Predicting Student Success Beyond the Freshman Year: High-School Based Record vs. Standardized Tests as Indicators of Four-Year College Outcomes. Berkeley, CA: Center for Studies in Higher Education.

Hao, L. (2002, November). The Equity Index: A Method to Measure Equity in Educational Outcomes for Minority Students. Poster presented at the annual meeting of the Association for the Study of Higher Education, Sacramento, CA.

Hayward C., Willett T. (2014). Curricular Redesign and Gatekeeper Completion: A Multicollege Evaluation of the California Acceleration Project. Berkeley, CA: The Research and Planning Group for California Community Colleges.

Hayward, C. (2021). Maximizing Math Throughput of Students Who Did Not Complete Algebra 2 in High School. San Rafeal, CA: The Research and Planning Group for California Community Colleges. ERIC # ED615363

Hern, K. , & Snell, M. (2010). Exponential Attrition and the Promise of Acceleration In Developmental English and Math. Oakland, CA: Career Ladders Project.

https://www.careerladdersproject.org/docs/Exponential%20Attrition.pdf Retrieved 2/1/2023 .

Hobfoll, S. E., Watson, P., Bell, C. C., Bryant, R. A., Brymer, M. J., Friedman, M. J., Friedman, M., Gersons, B. P., de Jong, J. T., Layne, C. M., Maguen, S., Neria, Y., Norwood, A. E., Pynoos, R. S., Reissman, D., Ruzek, J. I., Shalev, A. Y., Solomon, Z.,

Steinberg, A. M., & Ursano, R. J. (2007). Five essential elements of immediate and mid-term mass trauma intervention: Empirical evidence. Psychiatry, Winter, 70(4), 283–315; discussion 316–369. https://dx.doi.org/10.1521/psyc.2007.70.4.283 PMID: 18181708.

Kelly, A. (2012). Measuring 'equity' and 'equitability' in school effectiveness research. British

Educational Research Journal, 38(6), 977–1002.

MMAP Research Team . (2017). Multiple Measures High School Variables Model Summary

– Phase II. San Rafael, CA: The Research and Planning Group for California Community

 Phase II. San Rafael, CA: The Research and Planning Group for California Community Colleges.

 $https://rpgroup.org/Portals/0/Documents/Projects/MultipleMeasures/DecisionRules and Analysis Code/Statewide-Decision-Rules-5\_18\_16\_1.pdf \ Retrieved \ 8/25/2022 \ .$ 

REL West at WestEd . (2011). 1.2.110 Types of Multiple Measures Used in California Community College Mathematics, English, and English as a Second Language Course Placement: Summary Report of Survey Results. San Francisco, CA: WestEd.

Royal, K., & Flammer. (2015). A critique of the equity index method. Journal of MultiDisciplinary Education, 11(25), 89–92.

- RP Group . (2018). Comparative Throughput Analysis for AB 705 Compliance: Disaggregation by EOPS and DSPS Student Populations. San Rafeal, CA: The Research and Planning Group for California Community Colleges. ERIC # ED590767
- RP Group . (2020). The Throughput Year Clock: Defining "One Year" for AB 705. San Rafeal, CA: The Research and Planning Group for California Community Colleges. ERIC # ED612058
- RP Group . (2021). Enrollment & Success in Transfer-Level English & Math for Special Populations. San Rafeal, CA: The Research and Planning Group for California Community Colleges.
- https://rpgroup.org/Portals/0/Documents/Projects/MultipleMeasures/AB705\_Workshops/Enrol Iment%20and%20Success%20in%20TransferLevel\_English\_and\_Math\_for\_Special\_Populat ions July2021.pdf?ver=2021-08-04-114819-053 Retrieved 2/20/2023 .
- RP Group . (2022). Throughput in Transfer-Level English & Math for Students with Disabilities. San Rafeal, CA: The Research and Planning Group for California Community Colleges.
- https://rpgroup.org/Portals/0/Documents/Projects/MultipleMeasures/AB705\_Workshops/Throughput\_in\_Transferlevel\_English\_Math\_for\_Students\_with\_Disabilities\_October2022.pdf?ver =2022-10-07-070102-543 Retrieved 2/20/2023 .
- The Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching . (2008). Strengthening Precollegiate Education in Community Colleges: Project Summary and Recommendations. A Report from Strengthening Pre-collegiate Education in Community Colleges (SPECC). Stanford, CA: The Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching.
- Uhl . (2020). Juan Rodriguez Cabrillo: Explorer of the American West Coast. Rosen Central, US Department of the Treasury.
- Uniform Guidelines on Employee Selection Procedures (1978); 43 FR 38295, (August 25, 1978); 29 CFR Part 1607. 11
- Willett, T. (2013). Student Transcript-Enhanced Placement Study (STEPS) Technical Report. Berkeley, CA: The Research and Planning Group for California Community Colleges. ERIC# ED577267
- Willett, T. (2021). Data analytics: Assessing data quality. In SAGE Skills: Business. SAGE Publications, Inc. https://www.doi.org/10.4135/9781071858769
- Willett, T. (2023). Transitions in Math from High School to Community College Before and After AB 705, Updated through Fall 2021. San Rafeal, CA: The Research and Planning Group for California Community Colleges.
- https://rpgroup.org/Portals/0/Documents/Projects/MultipleMeasures/AB705\_Workshops/Transitions\_in\_Math\_From\_HS\_to\_CC\_Before\_and\_After\_AB705\_January2023.pdf?ver=2022-12-30-074239-157 Retrieved 2/6/2023 .
- Willett, T., Hayward, C., & Dahlstrom, E. (2008). An Early Alert System for Remediation Needs of Entering Community College Students: Leveraging the California Standards Test. California Partnership for Achieving Student Success Report 2007036, Encinitas, CA.
- Willett, T., Hayward, C., & Newell, M. (2018). AB705 Success Rates Estimates Technical Paper Estimating Success Rates for Students Placed Directly into Transfer-Level English and Math Courses. San Rafeal, CA: The Research and Planning Group for California Community Colleges.
- $https://rpgroup.org/Portals/0/Documents/Projects/MultipleMeasures/Publications/MMAP\_AB7-05\_TechnicalPaper\_FINAL\_091518.pdf Retrieved 8/25/2022 .$
- Willett, T., Newell, M., Hayward, C., & Hetts, J. (2020). Institutional research and remediation reform: A contextualized exploration of interactions among new metrics, innovative curricula, and policy changes. Journal of Applied Research in the Community College, 27(2), 145–155.
- $\label{lem:https://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/montezuma/jarcc/2020/00000027/00000002/art00012; jsessionid=2ae1uc7o09efg.x-ic-live-02$
- Willett, T., Newell, M., & Hayward, C. (2020). Institutional research (IR) and remediation reform: A contextualized exploration for faculty. In M. Siegal & B. Gilliland (Eds.) Empowering the Community College First-Year Composition Teacher: Pedagogies and Policies (pp. 260–276). Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press.

## Distance Learning in the Time of COVID

National Center for Education Statistics . (n.d.). Fast facts: Expenditures (75). Retrieved September 26, 2022, from https://nces.ed.gov/fastfacts/display.asp?id=75

Online Learning Consortium (n.d.) OLC quality scorecard - Benchmarking tools, checklists, & rubrics for evaluating the quality of online learning programs & courses. Retrieved September 26, 2022, from https://onlinelearningconsortium.org/consult/olc-quality-scorecard-administration-online-programs/

Quality Matters . (n.d.). Higher ed course design rubric standards. Retrieved September 26, 2022, from https://www.qualitymatters.org/qa-resources/rubric-standards/higher-ed-rubric Sleator, R. D. (2010). The evolution of eLearning background, blends, and blackboard.... Science Progress, 93(3), 319–334. https://doi.org/10.3184/003685010X127101248629 UPCEA . (n.d.). Hallmarks of excellence in online leadership. Retrieved September 26, 2022, from https://upcea.edu/resources/hallmarks-online/

Walsh, L. L., Arango-Caro, S., Wester, E. R., & Callis-Duehl, K. (2021). Training faculty as an institutional response to COVID-19 emergency remote teaching supported by data. CBE Life Sciences Education, 20(3), ar34. https://doi.org/10.1187/cbe.20-12-0277

## **Trauma-Informed Course Design**

6 Guiding principles to a trauma-informed approach . (2020). In Center for preparedness and response. https://www.cdc.gov/cpr/infographics/6 principles trauma info.htm

Baldwin, S. J. (2019). Assimilation in online course design. American Journal of Distance Education, 33(3), 195–211. https://doi.org/10.1080/08923647.2019.1610304

Banta, T. W. , & Palomba, C. (2014). Assessment essentials: Planning, implementing, and improving assessment in higher education. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Brain State Model. Conscious Discipline. (2021, July 3).

https://consciousdiscipline.com/methodology/brain-state-model/

Brunzell, T. , Stokes, H. , & Waters, L. (2016). Trauma-informed positive education: Using positive psychology to strengthen vulnerable students. Contemporary School Psychology, 20, 63-83. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40688-015-0070-x

Carello, J. (2019). Examples of trauma-informed teaching and learning in college classrooms. https://traumainformedteaching.blog/resources/

Carello, J., & Butler, L. D. (2015). Practicing what we teach: Trauma informed educational practice. Journal of Teaching in Social Work, 35(3), 262–278.

https://doi.org/10.1080/08841233.2015.1030059

Crosby, S. D. (2015). An ecological perspective on emerging trauma-informed teaching practices. Children & Schools, 37(4), 223–230.

Crosby, S. D., Day, A., Baroni, B. A., Somers, C. (2019). Examining traumainformed teaching and the trauma symptomatology of courtinvolved girls. The Urban Review, 51, 582–598. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11256-019-00533-2

Crosby, S. D., Howell, P., & Shelley, T. (2018). Social justice education through trauma-informed teaching. Middle School Journal, 49(4), 15–23.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00940771.2018.1488470

Czerkawski, B. C. , & Lyman, E. W. (2016). An instructional design framework for fostering student engagement in online learning environments. TechTrends, 60(6), 532–539.

Davidson, J. W. (2021). Beyond trigger warnings: Toward a trauma-informed andragogy for the graduate theological classroom. Teaching Theology and Religion, 24(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1111/teth.12574

Ericcson, K. A., Hoffman, R. R., Zobelt, A., & Williams, A. M. (2018). Cambridge handbook of expertise. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Fallot, R., & Harris, M. (2011). Creating cultures of trauma-informed care (CCTIC): A self-assessment and planning protocol. Community Connections. https://doi.org10.13140/2.1.4843.6002

- Fayer, L. (2014). A multi-case study of student perceptions of online course design elements and success. International Journal of the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning, 8(1), 1–27. https://doi.org/10.20429/ijsotl.2014.080113
- Ginwright, S. (2018). The future of healing: Shifting from: Trauma Informed care to healing centered engagement. Medium, May 31, 2018. https://medium.com/@ginwright/the-future-of-healing-shifting-from-trauma-informed-care-to-healing-centered-engagement-634f557ce69c.
- Gray, D. D. (2012). Nurturing adoptions: Creating resilience after neglect and trauma. Pennsylvania: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Huss, J. A., & Eastep, S. (2013). The perceptions of students toward online learning at a Midwestern University: What are students telling us and what are we doing about it? i.e.: Inquiry Into Education, 4(2), 1–20. http://digitalcommons.nl.edu/ie/vol4/iss2/5
- Joo, Y. J. , Lim, K. Y. , & Kim, E. K. (2011). Online university students' satisfaction and persistence: Examining perceived level of presence, usefulness and ease of use as predictors in a structural model. Computers & Education, 57, 1654–1664. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2011.02.008
- Kucuk, S., & Richardson, J. C. (2019). A structural equation model of predictors of online learners' engagement and satisfaction. Online Learning, 23(2), 196–216. https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v23i2.1455
- Larson, M., & Locke, B. B. (2014). Streamlined ID: A practical guide to instructional design. New York: Routledge.
- Levine, P. A. (1997). Walking the tiger: Healing trauma the innate capacity to transform overwhelming experiences. Berkeley, CA: North Atlantic Books.
- Levine, P. A. (2010). In an unspoken voice: how the body releases trauma and restores goodness. Berkeley, CA: North Atlantic Books.
- Marich, J., & Dansiger, S. (2020). Trauma and the 12 steps: A trauma responsive workbook. Warren, OH: Creative Mindfulness Media.
- Martin, F., & Bolliger, D. U. (2018). Engagement matters: Student perceptions on the importance of engagement strategies in the online learning environment. Online Learning, 22(1), 205–222. https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v22i1.1092
- Martin, F., Budhrani, K., Kumar, S., & Ritzhaupt, A. (2019b). Award-winning faculty online teaching practices: Roles and competencies. Online Learning, 23(1), 184–205. https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v23i1.1329
- Martin, F., Ritzhaupt, A., Kumar, S., & Budhrani, K. (2019a). Award-winning faculty online teaching practices: Course design, assessment and evaluation, and facilitation. Internet and Higher Education, 42, 34–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2019.04.001
- Mattila, M., & Mattila, A. (2016). Dimensions of likelihood to recommend an online course. Human and Social Sciences at the Common, 4(1), 133–138.
- https://doi.org/10.18638/hassacc.2016.4.1.210
- Perry, B. D. , & Szalavitz, M. (2007). The boy who was raised as a dog. New York: Basic Books.
- SAMHSA's Trauma and Justice Strategic Initiative . (2014). Samhsa's concept of trauma and guidance for a trauma-informed... hhs.gov.
- https://ncsacw.acf.hhs.gov/userfiles/files/SAMHSA\_Trauma.pdf. Retrieved September 2022, from https://ncsacw.acf.hhs.gov/userfiles/files/SAMHSA\_Trauma.pdf
- Shapiro, F. (2001). Eye movement desensitization and reprocessing: Basic principles, protocols, and procedures (2nd ed.). New York: Guilford Press.
- Shay, J. E., & Pohan, C. (2021). Resilient instructional strategies: Helping students cope and thrive in crisis. Journal of Microbiology & Biology, 1(22), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1128/jmbe.v22i1.240
- Shin, S., & Cheon, J. (2019). Assuring student satisfaction of online education: A search for core course design elements. International Journal of E-Learning, 18(2), 147–164. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1211933
- Trammel, B. A. , Morgan, R. K. , Davies, W. , Petrunich-Rutherford, M. L. , & Herold, D. S. (2018). Creating an online course shell: Strategies to mitigate frustration and increase student success across multiple campuses. Scholarship of Teaching and Learning in Psychology, 4(3), 164–180. https://doi.org/10.1037/stl0000109

Yang, D., Baldwin, S., & Snelson, C. (2017). Persistence factors revealed: Students' reflections on completing a fully online program. Distance Education, 38(1), 23–36. https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2017.1299561

## Standardizing the Process

Allen, M. J. (2004). Assessing academic programs in higher education. Massachusetts: Anker Publishing Company.

Allen, M. J. (2006). Assessing general education programs. Massachusetts: Anker Publishing Company.

Anderson, L., Krathwohl, R., Airasian, P., Cruikshank, K., Mayer, R., Pintrich, P., Raths, J., & Wittrock, M. (Eds.) (2001). Taxonomy for learning, teaching, and assessing: A revision of bloom's taxonomy. New York: Longman.

Aquino, A. B., Ramos, N. P., & Nolasco, C. J. (2015). Faculty perceptions, skills and problems on assessment in undergraduate programs in a state university extension campus in the Philippines. Asia Pacific Journal of Multidisciplinary Research, 3(3), 39–51.

Branch, R. M. (2009). Instructional design: The ADDIE approach (Vol. 722). New York: Springer.

Carnz, S., Mara, M., & Portwood, A. (2021). Leveraging technology to facilitate assessment processes. In J. M. Souza & T. A. Rose (Eds.), Exemplars of assessment in higher education: Diverse approaches to addressing accreditation standards (pp. 39–50). Virginia: Stylus Publishing, LLC.

Quality Matters . (n.d.). Course design rubric standards. https://www.qualitymatters.org/qaresources/rubric-standards/higher-ed-rubric

Dick, W. , Carey, L. , & Carey, J. O. (2021). The systematic design of instruction (5th ed.). New York: Longman.

Engagement indicators. Evidence-Based Improvement in Higher Education . (n.d.). https://nsse.indiana.edu/nsse/survey-instruments/engagement-indicators.html

Fulcher, K. H., Good, M. R., Coleman, C. M., & Smith, K. L. (2014, December). A simple model for learning improvement: Weigh pig, feed pig, weigh pig. (Occasional Paper No. 23). Urbana, IL: University of Illinois and Indiana University, National Institute for Learning Outcomes Assessment.

Fuller, M., Henderson, S., & Bustamante, R. (2014). Assessment leaders' perspectives of institutional cultures of assessment: A Delphi study. Assessment and Evaluation of Higher Education, 40(3), 331–351. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2014.917369

Fuller, M. B., & Skidmore, S. T. (2014). An exploration of factors influencing institutional cultures of assessment. International Journal of Educational Research, 65, 9–21.

Gagné, R. M., Briggs, L. J., & Wager, W. W. (1992). Principles of instructional design (4th ed.). Fort Worth, TX: Harcourt Brace Jovanovich College Publishers.

Hutchings, P. (2018, June). Helping students develop habits of reflection: What we can learn from the NILOA assignment library. Urbana, IL: University of Illinois and Indiana University, National Institute for Learning Outcomes Assessment (NILOA)

https://www.learningoutcomesassessment.org/wp-

content/uploads/2019/02/Habits Of Reflection.pdf

Jankowski, N. A. (2020, August). Assessment during a crisis: Responding to a global pandemic. Urbana, IL: University of Illinois and Indiana University, National Institute for Learning Outcomes Assessment. https://www.learningoutcomesassessment.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/2020-COVID-Survey.pdf

Jankowski, N. A., & Bheda, D. (2022, March 22). Pandemic insights to shape a better future: Assessment for teaching, learning, equity, and student success. ExamSoft https://www.learningoutcomesassessment.org/wp-

content/uploads/2022/04/ExamSoft FutureofAssessment Report 2022.pdf

Judd, T., & Keith, B. (2012). Student learning outcomes assessment at the program and institutional levels. In C. Secolsky & D. B. Denison (Eds.), Handbook on measurement, assessment, and evaluation in higher education (pp. 81–100). New York: Routledge.

Knowles, M. S. (1970). The modern practice of adult education. Andragogy versus Pedagogy. New York: Associated Press.

Mancilla, R., & Frey, B. (2021, February 3). Course design for digital accessibility: Best practices and tools. https://www.qualitymatters.org/sites/default/files/research-docs-pdfs/QM-Digital-Accessibility-Best-Practices-Tools-WP.pdf

Parscal, T., Frey, B. A., & Lucas, G. (2011, November). Student and faculty perceptions before and after a course meets QM standards. [2010 QM Research Grant]. Presentation at the 3rd Annual Quality Matters Conference, Baltimore, MD.

Royal, K. D. (2010). Evaluating faculty perceptions of student learning outcomes: A Rasch measurement analysis. Journal of Multidisciplinary Evaluation, 6(14), 18–31.

Student Satisfaction Surveys, Higher Education Surveys: RNL. Ruffalo Noel Levitz. (2022, April 12). https://www.ruffalonl.com/enrollment-management-solutions/student-success/student-satisfaction-assessment/

Weiner, W. F. (2018, October 29). Establishing a culture of assessment. American Association of University Professors. https://www.aaup.org/article/establishing-culture-assessment

## Assessing an Online Nuclear Engineering Technology Program

ABET (2021, December 27). Criteria for accrediting engineering technology programs, 2022–2023. ABET. https://www.abet.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/2022-23-ETAC-Criteria.pdf

Assessment Working Group (2021, February). Institutional assessment plan for student learning. Excelsior University. https://www.excelsior.edu/wp-

content/uploads/2019/01/Institutional\_Assessment\_Plan\_for\_Student\_Learning.pdf Excelsior University (2022, August). Faculty handbook. Excelsior University. https://www.excelsior.edu/wp-

content/uploads/2022/07/Excelsior\_University\_Faculty\_Handbook\_August\_2022.pdf Suskie, L. (2018). Assessing student learning: A common sense guide. 2nd ed. Bolton, San Francisco, CA: John Wiley & Sons.

# Embedded Assessment to Measure Student Achievement in the Online Modality

Allen, M. J. (2004). Assessing academic programs in higher education. Bolton, MA: Anker Publishing.

Aspen University 2022–2023 Academic Catalog . (n.d). University history, mission, and goals. Aspen University. Retrieved January 4, 2023, from

https://aspen.smartcatalogiq.com/en/academic-year-2022-2023/academic-catalog/university-history-mission-and-goals/

Banta, T. W., & Blaich, C. (2011). Closing the assessment loop. Change, 43(1), 22–27.

Knowles, M. (1984). Andragogy in action. San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass.

Maki, P. L. (2010). Assessing for learning (2nd ed.). Sterling, VA: Stylus.

National Institute for Learning Outcomes Assessment . (2011). Transparency framework. Urbana, IL: University of Illinois and Indiana University, National Institute for Learning Outcomes Assessment (NILOA).

Suskie, L. (2009). Assessing student learning: A common sense guide (2nd ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass.

Walvoord, B. E. (2010). Assessment clear and simple: A practical guide for institutions, departments, and general education (2nd ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass.

# Assessment Practices that Support Career Transitions for Doctoral Students

- AACRAO . (2020). AACRAO issues guidance for college registrars and admissions to adopt IMS global learning consortium digital standard for learner records. AACRAO Press Release. https://www.aacrao.org/who-we-are/newsroom/article/2020/05/05/aacrao-issues-guidance-for-college-registrars-and-admissions-to-adopt-ims-global-learning-consortium-digital-standard-for-learner-records
- Abras, C., Nailos, J., Lauka, B., Haushaw, J., & Taylor, J. (Fall, 2022). Defining co-curricular assessment and charting a path forward. Intersection: A Journal at the Intersection of Assessment and Learning 4(1). Published by Intersection: A Journal at the Intersection of Assessment and Learning (scholasticahg.com).
- Austin, A. E., & McDaniels, M. (2006). Using doctoral education to prepare faculty to work within Boyer's four domains of scholarship. New Directions for Institutional Research, 2006(129), 51–65. https://doi.org/10.1002/ir.171
- Baker, G. R., & Jankowski, N. A. (2020, June). Documenting learning: The comprehensive learner record. (Occasional Paper No. 46). Urbana, IL: University of Illinois and Indiana University, National Institute for Learning Outcomes Assessment. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED608790.pdf
- Barnes, B. J., & Randall, J. (2012). Doctoral student satisfaction: An examination of disciplinary, enrollment, and institutional differences. Research in Higher Education, 53(1), 47–75. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-011-9225-4
- Coso Strong, A., & Sekayi, D. (2018). Exercising professional autonomy: Doctoral students' preparation for academic careers. Studies in Graduate and Postdoctoral Education, 9(2), 243–258. https://doi.org/10.1108/SGPE-D-18-00005
- Dean, K. L. (2015). Understanding student success by measuring co-curricular learning. New Directions for Institutional Research, 2014(164), 27–38. https://doi.org/10.1002/ir.20113 Denecke, D. , Kent, J. , & McCarthy, M. T. (2017). Articulating learning outcomes in doctoral education. Washington, DC: Council of Graduate Schools.
- Heflinger, C. A., & Doykos, B. (2016). Paving the pathway: Exploring student perceptions of professional development preparation in doctoral education. Innovative Higher Education, 41(4), 343–358. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10755-016-9356-9
- Mitic, R. R., & Okahana, H. (2021). Don't count them out: PhD skills development and careers in industry. Studies in Graduate and Postdoctoral Education, 12(2), 206–229. https://doi.org/10.1108/SGPE-03-2020-0019
- Morrison, R., Rudd, E., & Nerad, M. (2011). Early careers of recent US social science PhDs. Learning and Teaching, 4(2), 6–29. https://doi.org/10.3167/latiss.2011.040202 National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2018). The next generation of biomedical and behavioral sciences researchers: Breaking through. The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/25008
- National Center for Science and Engineering Statistics, National Science Foundation . (2021). Doctorate Recipients from U.S. Universities: 2020. NSF 22–300. https://ncses.nsf.gov/pubs/nsf22300/
- Nisha, S. M., & Rajasekaran, V. (2018). Employability skills: A review. IUP Journal of Soft Skills, 12(1), 29–37. https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/employability-skills-review/docview/2027474049/se-2
- Okahana, H., & Kinoshita, T. (2018). Closing gaps in our knowledge of PhD career pathways: How well did a humanities PhD prepare them? CGS Research in Brief. https://legacy.cgsnet.org/sites/default/files/RESEARCH%20BRIEF.pdf
- Opsomer, J., Chen, A., Chang, W-Y., & Foley, D.; National Center for Science and Engineering Statistics (NCSES). (2021). U.S. Employment higher in the private sector than in the education sector for U.S.-trained doctoral scientists and engineers: Findings from the 2019 survey of doctorate recipients. NSF 21–319. https://ncses.nsf.gov/pubs/nsf21319/Ortega, S. T., & Kent, J. D. (2018). What is a PhD? Reverse-engineering our degree
- programs in the age of evidence-based change. Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning, 50(1), 30–36. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00091383.2018.1413904

Rogers, K. (2020). Putting the humanities PhD to work: Thriving in and beyond the classroom. Duke University Press.

Rudd, E., & Nerad, M. (2015). Career preparation in PHD programs: Results of a national survey of early career geographers. GeoJournal, 80(2), 181–186. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10708-014-9587-1

Suskie, L. (2015). Introduction to measuring co-curricular learning. New Directions for Institutional Research, 2014(164), 5–13. https://doi.org/10.1002/ir.20111

Verderame, M. F., Freedman, V. H., Kozlowski, L. M., & McCormack, W. T. (2018). Competency-based assessment for the training of PhD students and early-career scientists. eLife, 7(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.34801

Wendler, C., Bridgeman, B., Markle, R., Cline, F., Bell, N., McAllister, P., & Kent, J. (2012). Pathways through graduate school and into careers. Educational Testing Service. https://www.ets.org/c/19574/19089\_PathwaysReptqp.pdf

## Using Portfolio-Based Assessments to Demonstrate Academic Competency, Encourage Professional Growth, and Inform Curricular Innovation

Bloom, B. S., & Krathwohl, D. R. (1956). Taxonomy of educational objectives: The classification of educational goals, by a committee of college and university examiners. Handbook I: Cognitive domain. New York: Longmans, Green.

Bransford, J. D. , Brown, A. L. , & Cocking, R. R. (2000). How people learn: Brain, mind, experience, and school. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.

Ignite Talks . (2022, October 31). https://www.ignitetalks.io/

Kapucu, N., & Koliba, C. (2017). Using competency-based portfolios as a pedagogical tool and assessment strategy in MPA programs. Journal of Public Affairs Education 23(4), 993–1016. https://doi.org/10.1080/15236803.2017.12002301

Krathwohl, D. R., Bloom, B. S., & Masia, B. B. (1964). Taxonomy of educational objectives, Book II. Affective domain. New York: David McKay Company, Inc.

Mueller, J. (2018). Authentic assessment toolbox.

http://jfmueller.faculty.noctrl.edu/toolbox/portfolios.htm

Network of Schools of Public Policy, Affairs, and Administration (NASPAA) . (2022, October 31). Official standards and policy. https://www.naspaa.org/accreditation/standards-and-guidance/official-standards-policy

Pintrich, Paul R. (2002). The role of metacognitive knowledge in learning, teaching, and assessing. Theory into Practice 41, 219–225. http://dx.doi.org/10.1207/s15430421tip4104\_3 Simpson, E. (1972). The classification of educational objectives in the psychomotor domain: The psychomotor domain. Vol. 3. Washington, DC: Gryphon House.

## Assessment That Impacts Career Success

Council on Podiatric Medicine Education . (2023, April). CPME 120 Standards and Requirements for accreditation colleges of podiatric medicine. http://www.cpme.org/cpme120 Montenegro-Rueda, M. et al. (2021). Assessment in higher education during the COVID-19 pandemic: A systematic review. Sustainability, 13: 1–13.

Sokhanvar, Z. et al. (2021). Advantages of authentic assessment for improving the learning experience and employability skills of higher education students: A systematic literature review. Studies in Educational Evaluation, 70: 1–10.

# A Holistic Approach to Career Readiness Assessment in a Guided Pathways Framework

AACC Pathways Project, Community College Research Center . (2015). The movement towards pathways. Community College Research Center.

Adelman, C. , Ewell, P. , Gaston, P. , & Schneider, C. G. (October 2014). The degree qualifications profile. Lumina Foundation.

Autor, D. H., Katz, L., & Kearney, M. S. (2006). The polarization of the US labor market. American Economic Review, 96, 189–194.

Bailey, T., Jaggars, S. S., & Jenkins, D. (2015). Implementing guided pathways: Tips and tools. New York: Columbia University, Teachers College, Community College Research Center.

Blumenstyk, G. (13 October 2021). The edge: 'The educational equivalent of energy star'. The Chronicle of Higher Education. https://www.chronicle.com/newsletter/the-edge/2021-10-13?cid2=gen login refresh&cid=gen sign in

Carnevale, A. P., & Cheah, B. (2015). From hard times to better times: College majors, unemployment and earnings. http://cew.georgetown.edu/wp-content/uploads/HardTimes2015-Report.pdf

Carnevale, A. P. , Rose, S. J. , & Cheah, B. (2011). The education payoff: Education, occupations, and lifetime earnings. http://cew.georgetown.edu/collegepayoff/

D'Agostino, S. (5 August 2022). Leveling the playing field for social capital.Inside Higher Education. https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2022/08/05/how-colleges-can-level-playing-field-social-capital?utm\_source=Inside+Higher+Ed&utm\_campaign=4d5a3e49a0-DNU\_2021\_COPY\_02&utm\_medium=email&utm\_term=0\_1fcbc04421-4d5a3e49a0-197514661&mc\_cid=4d5a3e49a0&mc\_eid=e57f762926

Emsi . (27 June 2022). Emsi burning glass is now lightcast.

https://www.economicmodeling.com/2022/06/27/emsi-burning-glass-is-now-lightcast/ Finley, A., & McConnell, K. (2022). On the same page? Administrator and faculty views on what shapes college learning and student success. AAC&U.

https://dgmg81phhvh63.cloudfront.net/content/user-

photos/Research/PDFs/OntheSamePage FINAL 2-15-22 pdftoprint.pdf

Fischer, K. (12 August 2022). The shrinking of higher education. The Chronicle of Higher Education. https://www.chronicle.com/article/the-shrinking-of-higher-

ed#:~:text=College%20attendance%20among%20undergraduates%20has,deeper%2Dthan %2Dexpected%20decline

Freeman, J. , & McDonough, B. (2022). Guided career pathways: Credentials that lead to careers: building pathways to equitable economic advancement.

https://info.jff.org/hubfs/Guided%20Career%20Pathways/GCP-Static-PDF-

V2.pdf?utm\_campaign=Guided%20Career%20Pathways&utm\_medium=email&\_hsmi=2092 45126& hsenc=p2ANqtz- -

mmgesimIAX h6Gg64sm6PWSEray2U1GufoZXROkUMXKXZa5ZX6nf-

betJLqBIDnGijz6ebfN\_xFh3y9NwFaykPh1ug&utm\_content=209245126&utm\_source=hs\_automation

Hurwitz, M., & Smith, J. (2018). Student responsiveness to earnings data in the College Scorecard. Economic Inquiry, 56(2), 1220–1243.

Jobs for the Future . (n.d.). Education quality outcomes standards (EQOS).

https://www.jff.org/what-we-do/impact-stories/education-quality-outcomes-standards-eqos/#:~:text=Education%20Quality%20Outcomes%20Standards%20(EQOS)%2C%20a%20nonprofit%20housed%20within,confusing%20education%20and%20training%20marketplace

Loveland, R., Bernstein, C., Raisz, A., Waterhouse, G., & Borella, N. (2019). Cybersecurity: Creating a foundation for academic and career success. UMASS Donahue Institute.

Mabel, Z., Libassi, C. J., & Hurwitz, M. (2020). The value of using early-career earnings data in the College Scorecard to guide college choices. Economics of Education Review, 75, 101958.

Nietzel, M. T. (2020). New report: The best American universities for boosting students' social mobility. Forbes. https://www.forbes.com/sites/michaeltnietzel/2020/12/02/new-report-the-best-american-universities-for-boosting-students-social-mobility/?sh=34708c014904 Rosenbaum, J. E. , Stephan, J. L. , & Rosenbaum, J. E. (2010, Fall). Beyond one-size fits-all college dreams: Alternative pathways to desirable careers. American Educator, Fall 2010, 2–13

Sigelman, M. (8 February 2016). Getting past the lazy debate. Inside Higher Education. https://www.insidehighered.com/views/2016/02/08/debate-over-liberal-arts-vs-vocationalism-lazy-one-essay

Toor, R. (18 January 2022). Rethinking the faculty role in students' career readiness. Inside Higher Education. https://www.insidehighered.com/views/2022/01/18/faculty-should-domore-help-students-prepare-careers-opinion

US Department of Education . (n.d.). College scorecard. https://collegescorecard.ed.gov/US News . (2022). Top performers on social mobility. US News.

https://www.usnews.com/best-colleges/rankings/national-universities/social-mobility Weise, M., Hanson, A., Sentz, R., & Saleh, Y. (2018). Robot-ready: Human skills for the future of work. Emsi and Strada Institute for the Future of Work. www.stradaeducation.org/institute

# Building a Signature General Education Program with Alignment and Assessment among Its Founding Principals

ACRL Framework for Information Literacy for Higher Education ." Association of College & Research Libraries (ACRL), 9 February 2015 .

https://www.ala.org/acrl/standards/ilframework.

Association of American Colleges and Universities . (2009). VALUE Rubrics.

https://www.aacu.org/initiatives/value-initiative/value-rubrics/

Brownell, J. E. , and L. E. Swaner . (2010). Five High-Impact Practices: Research on Learning Outcomes, Completion, and Quality. AAC&U.

Bryn Mawr College , "Bryn Mawr Digital Competencies Framework" (2016). Blended Learning Research and Open Educational Resources. 3.

https://repository.brynmawr.edu/oer/3

## **General Education Assessment**

Austin, M.W. (2011, April 13). The value of general education: General education courses area crucial component of a sound college education, Psychology Today. https://www.psychologytoday.com/us/blog/ethics-everyone/201104/the-value-general-education.

Bouchrika, I. (2022, October 14). What is general education? Definition, requirements & A list of courses, Research.com. https://research.com/education/what-is-general-education. Gaston, P.L. (2015). General Education Transformed: How We Can, Why We Must. American Association of Colleges and Universities.

Latzer, B. (2004, April). The Hollow Core: Failure of the General Education Curriculum. A Fifty College Study. American Council of Trustees and Alumni.

Scott, R.A. (2014). The meaning of liberal arts education, On the Horizon, 22(1), 23–34. Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges . (2018). Resource Manual for the Principles of Accreditation: Foundations for Quality Enhancement (pp. 71–73, 81–83).

Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board . (2018, April). Texas Core Curriculum (TCC). https://reportcenter.highered.texas.gov/agency-publication/misc4ellaneous/elements-of-the-7texas-core-curriculum/.

Texas State University . (2017). Mission, Values, and Goals.

https://www.txst.edu/about/mission.html.

Warner, D.B., & Koeppel, K. (2010). General education requirements: A comparative analysis, The Journal of General Education, 58(4), 241–258.

## Collaborative General-Education Assessment among Missionfocused Institutions

ABHE Commission on Accreditation . (2022). ABHE Commission on Accreditation Manual. Association for Biblical Higher Education. https://www.abhe.org/wp-

content/uploads/2022/07/2022-COA-Manual-2022-07-11.pdf

Allen, I.E., & Seaman, C.A. (2007, July). Likert scales and data analyses. Quality Progress, 40(7), 64–65.

Banta, T.W., & Blaich, C. (2011). Closing the assessment loop. Change, 43(1), 22–27.

God's Bible School and College . (n.d.). Educated Christian Statement.

https://www.gbs.edu/about-us/what-we-believe/educated-christian/

National Center for Education Statistics . (2022). Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System. Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education. https://nces.ed.gov/ipeds/

Parker, P.L. , McDaniel, H.S. , & Crumpton-Young, L.L. (2002). Do Research Participants Give Interval or Ordinal Answers in Response to Likert Scales? IIE Annual Conference.

Proceedings (pp. 1–4). Institute of Industrial and Systems Engineers (IISE), 2002.

Proffitt, J.R. (1979). The federal connection for accreditation. The Journal of Higher Education, 50(2), 145–157. https://doi.org/10.2307/1980935

Profitt, A.D. (2021, September 28). Getting Started in Assessment [Conference session]. The Accreditation Journey, Association for Biblical Higher Education, Orlando, FL, United States. Sullivan, G.M., & Artino, Jr., A.R. (2013). Analyzing and interpreting data from Likert-type scales. Journal of Graduate Medical Education, 5(4), 541–542. https://doi.org/10.4300/JGME-5-4-18

U.S. Department of Education . (2022, August 22). Accreditation in the United States. https://www2.ed.gov/admins/finaid/accred/accreditation\_pg3.html

## Remodeling Academic Advising into a Holistic Case Management Model and Assessing the Effectiveness of the Model and the Impact on Student Success

Achieving The Dream . (2018). Holistic student supports redesign: A toolkit for redesigning advising and student services to effectively support every student (version 3). https://www.achievingthedream.org/wp-

content/uploads/2018/10/atd\_hss\_redesign\_toolkit\_2018.pdf Bailey, M. J. & Dynarski, S. M. (2011). Gains and gaps: Changing inequality in U.S. college entry and completion. NBER Working Paper Series, number 17633. https://www.nber.org/papers/w17633

Shapiro, D., Dundar, A., Huie, F., Wakhungu, P. K., Yuan, X., Nathan, A. & Bhimdiwali, A. (2017, December). Completing college: A national view of student completion rates – Fall 2011 Cohort (Signature Report No. 14). Herndon, VA: National Student Clearinghouse Research Center.